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Chairman’s report
During the year the major salvage
program from the fires in 2009
continued to dominate activities.
This was a substantial task and
resulted in significant volumes of
wood which would otherwise not
have been available to customers.
The program has been carried out
within budget and on time.
The year also saw the organisation
meet full compliance standards for
the Department of Sustainability
and Environment’s catchment
harvesting program. A high
compliance level against the
expanded Forest Audit Program
is a high standard and both
reflect VicForests’ commitment
to continuous improvement in
environmental audit standards.
We have also invested resources
in an entirely new program for
threatened species management
which will have the added effect
of enhancing the department’s
information base on landscape
species populations.
We were re-certified to the
Australian Forestry Standard
last year and have maintained
that certification in the current
year, addressing all outstanding
compliance issues during

the course of the year. The
international Program for the
Endorsement of Forest Certification
Schemes (PEFC) has endorsed this
as meeting PEFC International’s
Sustainability Benchmark.
During the year we also delivered
a significant Resources Outlook
briefing to the industry in order
to share the likely level of future
supply of native hardwood. This
supply has been greatly affected
by land use decisions and by fire.
As a result, the industry received
appropriate information to assist
with making some difficult
decisions affecting its future, in
light of these strictures.
This year, the Board welcomed the
incoming government‘s interest
in the renewal of the industry and
recognition of the need for better
levels of commercial certainty
if investment in the industry is
to proceed. Together we are
examining issues of resource
supply tenure of supply and the
cost of regulation.

of universally poor trade prospects
internationally. This set of problems
is global and will not recover until
the world economy returns to a
sustained growth vector. In the
interim, our headline results include
a positive EBIT and considerable
success in containing costs.
In closing, I would like to thank my
fellow Board members — Monica
Gould, Fiona McNabb, Bob Smith,
Susan Walpole and Trevor Smith —
together with the Executive team
and staff, for their continuing hard
work throughout the year.

Warren Hodgson
Chairman

The year’s financial results
have been reasonable, given
the persistence of a depressed
construction sector in Australia and
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Purpose
To build a responsible business that generates the best community value
from the commercial management of Victoria’s State forests.

Role
To undertake the management, sale and regeneration of timber resources
from areas of Victorian State forests set aside for wood production.

Values
Professional: We operate in an ethical, efficient and accountable manner
Sustainable: We respect and care for our environment and the
communities in which we operate
Safe: We aim for Zero Harm in all that we do
Customer Focused: We are responsible in our commercial dealings
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Report of operations
CEO’s report, 2010-11
The past year has been one of
positive performance in a difficult
global environment.
Our financial results have improved
over the last year, even though the
global markets for wood fibre of all
types remains problematic. Earnings
before interest and tax (EBIT)
has ended the year at a positive
$3.65m and we are optimistic
about sustained performance
in the year ahead, particularly if
continuing pricing problems can
be resolved with key customers.
Costs have been contained as far
as possible, although there has
been a significant and unexpected
increase in legal fees during the
last two years as VicForests has had
to defend itself against a range of
legal actions.
The difficult market conditions
have resulted in some customers
requiring tailored debt repayment
plans. These plans ensure
repayments are structured within
the constraints of both businesses.
Where applicable, repayment plans
attract penalty interest charges.
We have continued with our
program of tendering out harvest
and haul services. This exercise
has delivered some positive
results. While 2010-11 saw us
unable to offer as much volume
for contractors as was expiring,
the contracts that we were able
to award have resulted in savings
across the supply chain. In 201112, we expect that we will continue
to tender out contracts consistent

with volumes available.
Throughout 2010-11, we
continued to invest substantially
in stakeholder engagement
and better communication with
the public. Our five dedicated
communications staff have had
to counter the misinformation
raised by a number of well-funded
environmental groups. We believe
that, in as much as the arguments
rest on rational grounds, we have
made some useful headway. We
continue to hope that debate
within the community about the
benefits of forestry will assist
the degree of acceptance of
VicForests’ mandate and ensure
that the industry is able to
continue providing both highquality products and regional jobs.
The incoming government
has been in consultation with
VicForests, discussing strategies
to revivify the industry in Victoria.
This has included a range of
related activities that affect the
commerciality of VicForests and
necessary changes to law and
regulation. It is our hope that
this will result in a clarification of
responsibilities around harvesting
and the reduction of sovereign risk
for potential investors.

David Pollard
CEO

Customer Focussed – We are responsible in our commercial dealings
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Section 1: Year in review
Protecting biodiversity
VicForests put in a range of new
measures in place during the past
financial year to ensure operations
do not have an affect on the
state’s biodiversity. A specialist
role of Conservation Biologist
has been created to build an
even greater understanding of
biodiversity management issues
associated with our harvesting
operations. The role’s focus is on
the protection of endangered
species, by liaising with external
flora and fauna experts and
working with our staff to improve
their knowledge base.
In addition to the states extensive
formal and informal reserve system,
VicForests helps to ensure there
is additional habitat available for
native fauna by retaining habitat
trees and seed trees in areas
where harvesting takes place. The
retention of habitat islands, or
unharvested areas within coupes,
is another method designed to
enable species to continue to grow
and flourish in harvested regions.

Regeneration
In a steady state, the area
VicForests regenerates is equivalent
to that which is harvested. This
target has been exceeded in
the past two years to reduce a
backlog of regeneration resulting
from the drought conditions of
the preceding years. This year,
favourable seasonal conditions
have enabled more than six tonnes
of eucalyptus seed to be collected,
1906 hectares to be aerially sown

8

by staff and 815 hectares to
regenerate solely using retained
seed trees.

supplied to customers, consisting
of 587,000m3 of sawlog and
1,128,000m3 of pulplog.

A number of years will pass before
the results of these activities receive
their final confirmation and the
management of the regenerated
areas returns to the Department
of Sustainability and Environment
(DSE). A total of 3824 hectares
was submitted through this
management finalisation process
during the 2010-11 financial year.

The local market conditions for
both sawn timber and paper
producers have continued to
be defined by local and global
economic conditions and the
strength of the Australian dollar.
In May 2011, approximately
39,000m3 of sales were awarded
through auctions, with the
remainder of the wood being
supplied to customers under
existing timber sales agreements.
Given these market conditions,
achieving $131 million in sales
from 1,753,000m3 of logs, can be
considered positive.

Meeting community needs
VicForests has developed a number
of collaborative partnerships with
stakeholders in a wide range of
areas. There has been an increase
in presentations to public forums,
sponsorship of community
events, forest tours and other
forms of direct engagement
with interest groups. Stronger
relationships have been formed
with Indigenous groups through
a number of initiatives, including
locally delivered cultural awareness
programs to staff in both the
Central Highlands and East
Gippsland. VicForests’ Community
Support Program has resulted in
the awarding of grants to over 40
local community groups to support
events and activities within the
areas in which we harvest.

Sales
The period where high-quality
timber can be salvaged from 2009
fire-affected areas has now passed.
A total quantity of more than 1.7
million m3 of salvage log has been

Planning for the future
VicForests delivered an updated
Resource Outlook to the timber
industry in February 2011. This
outlook provided the most upto-date predictions of medium
to long-term timber resource
availability from State forest in
eastern Victoria.
The 2011 Resource Outlook
represents VicForests’ current
forecast of future timber
supplies following the transfer
of this responsibility from DSE to
VicForests in 2010. The task of
minimising the inherent level of
uncertainty in native forest timber
resource estimates is ongoing
and will form part of the 2011-12
Business Plan.
The 2011 Resource Outlook
incorporated the effects of the
2009 fires and improved modelling
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of operational constraints. It also
confirmed an ongoing reduction
in timber resource availability for
the next 10 years, before levelling
out at around 400,000 m3 of D+
sawlogs annually. This has been
caused by a variety of factors,
including landscape fires, increased
reservation of production forestry
areas and improved timber resource
modelling processes.
The Outlook projected a further
decline in available ash sawlogs
beyond 2035. This decline is being
driven by the delayed effects of
three major fires over the past
eight years. The industry has an
opportunity to explore solutions

to this decline as it will not affect
the industry in the short to
medium-term of up to 20 years.
Maintaining supply levels in the
long-term will require a revision of
product specifications and harvest
techniques and the adoption of
new processing technologies.
The Outlook projected a significant
decline in available mixed species
resource within East Gippsland,
leading to an overall reduction in
available mixed species timber of
approximately half the previous
projection. This reduction was
driven by the creation of additional
reserves and the use of operational
reductions to take account of the

heavily fragmented, uneven-aged
resource and market conditions.
There are, however, a number
of problems facing the industry
which VicForests’ commercial
pursuits alone will not adequately
address. In particular, the high
costs of extracting sawlogs from
the remaining available East
Gippsland estate will mean that
some of the previously projected
sawlog quantities will not be
brought to market under current
operating assumptions. VicForests
will continue to explore ways by
which it can bring additional wood
to market cost effectively from
these areas.

Sustainable – We respect and care for our environment and the communities in which we operate
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Forest contracting

Sustainability charter

VicForests procures forest
contracting services for periods of
one to five years. 300,000 m3/year
of harvest and haulage contracts
with terms of 5 years were
awarded through tender. Tenders
for a further 201,000 m3/year are
currently under consideration.

In 2006 the Minister for the
Environment and the Minister
for Agriculture launched the
Sustainability Charter for Victoria’s
State Forests. VicForests is
required by the Sustainable Forests
(Timber) Act 2004 to respond to
the objectives of the charter by
developing initiatives and targets
in support of those objectives.

VicForests has two mechanisms for
addressing this requirement. The
first is the VicForests’ Sustainable
Forest Management System (SFMS),
which has been developed and
certified to the Australian Forestry
Standard. The second is VicForests’
Corporate and Business Plans,
which are developed annually and
which outline relevant initiatives
and strategies for the organisation.
The 2010-11 to 2012-13 Statement
of Corporate Intent describes the
projects that we have initiated
in response to the Charter and
our progress in delivering them.
These will be reported against
in the corresponding VicForests
Sustainability Report.

Research
VicForests has an ongoing
commitment to forestry research.
Projects include the peer review
of fire impacts, carbon impact
modelling, fauna surveys in
collaboration with the University
of Melbourne Masters program,
the monitoring of the health
and survival of retained habitat
trees, the economical treatment
options for uncommercial unevenaged forests, an investigation
into the recovery of forest soils
after machinery compaction and
work with the Australian National
University on retained island
retention within ash forests.
VicForests has also renewed its
partnership with the Cooperative
Research Centres for Forestry.

10
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Progress against 2010 Corporate Plan initiatives
Implement the low-grade
log sales project

The impacts of the 2009 bushfires and subsequent review of the
Allocation Order temporarily delayed this project. With both of these
major undertakings now resolved, this project can proceed.

Undertake feasibility
of supply for biomass
energy production with
potential customers

The collaborative review of the market potential has been completed.
Wood volumes identified will be included in the log sales project.

Review of VicForests’
Strategic Marketing and
Business Development Plans

In response to substantial changes that have occurred in VicForests’
operating environment, an extensive review of VicForests’ Strategic
Marketing Plan was undertaken. It was informed by internal experience
and industry comment. Insights and recommendations from the Strategic
Marketing Plan have been integrated into the Corporate Plan.

Achieve savings through a
suite of targeted initiatives

VicForests has built a robust and agile supply chain through rationalising
sales agreements to a delivered price, directly contracting harvest-andhaul providers and developing additional internal contract management
skills. In addition, systematic reviews and external audits across the full
breadth of operations have been implemented internally to produce an
organisation that is better positioned to respond to change.

Implement Phase 2
of LogTracker

Plans to extend the sales and contract management system (LogTracker)
to enable field data capture of log-product data were put on hold during
2009–10. An implementation review revealed significant maintenance costs
and risks with the current supplier. VicForests has subsequently selected an
alternative supplier and is in the process of migrating to this system.

Implementation of
Lean Thinking process
management model

VicForests has implemented a suite of Lean Thinking training and
techniques across the organisation.

Implement a consolidated
Stakeholder Engagement
Strategy

A strategy is being implemented to engage effectively with an extensive
audience, including government, customers, contractors, non-government
organisations, media, employees, industry organisations and the general
public. Two regionally based positions have been filled to assist this
implementation.

Customer Focussed – We are responsible in our commercial dealings
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VicForests’ 2011 financial performance at a glance:
$000
Volume (m³)
Operating revenue

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006 i

1,753,151 1,812,618 1,784,370 1,917,701 1,590,520 1,833,923
131,414

131,588

125,335

125,767

99,117

37,245

Stumpage

31,782

24,498

29,477

28,536

28,400

35,500

% of sales

24.2%

18.6%

23.5%

22.7%

28.7%

95.3%

Earnings before interest
& taxes (EBIT)

3,648

5,266

(7,466)

230

(687)

2,030

% of sales

2.8%

4.0%

(6.0%)

0.2%

(0.7%)

5.5%

Earnings before tax

3,266

5,104

(7,355)

770

(23)

2,980

Less income expense

943

1,512

(2,331)

232

(6)

895

Net result after tax

2,323

3,592

(5,024)

538

(17)

2,085

% of sales

1.8%

2.7%

(4.0%)

0.4%

0.0%

5.6%

Net cash flow from operating
activities

(5,183)

(16,307)

4,560

(11,306)

(6,220)

8,133

Total assets

88,704

73,733

54,182

55,428

38,040

35,016

Total liabilities

42,452

36,826

23,442

26,563

16,912

11,798

Net assets / equity

46,252

36,907

30,740

28,865

21,128

23,218

Notes: (i) Mill Door Pricing started as from 2006/07
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Current year financial review
Overview

Financial position – balance sheet

• EBIT of $3.65 million continues the positive trend of
the previous year.

• Net assets increased by $9.4 million over the year.
The two main influencing factors were the transfer
of $7 million of timber from the state and the net
result after tax of $2.3 million.

• During 2010-11 VicForests continued with the
salvage program following the 2009 bush fires
which was supported by the Victorian Government.
A small portion of salvage-related expenses have
carried forward to the 2011-12 year, relating to
costs associated with bringing the wood to market.
Over 35% of the timber harvested during 201011 came from fire-effected stands, which would
have lost all high value utility had it not been for
this salvage program. A total of $5.9 million in
additional expenses was incurred to recover the
salvage wood before it dried and deteriorated: this
was off-set by the salvage grant.

Financial performance and
business review
2011 was a challenging year. The overall market conditions
have not been favourable to the Victorian Timber Industry.
The housing sector (measured in dollar value of new
homes and renovations) has lacked growth since peaking
in 2007-08 (HIA 2011), and the high Australian dollar has
supported cheaper imports of building materials, thereby
creating a competitive environment which is pushing
margins further downwards.
VicForests’ customers, in particular sawmills supplying
the building and construction sector, reduced their
timber intake compared with original budget estimates.
This affected both revenue and margin performance
against budget.
Overall sales volumes for 2010-11 were 3.3%
below the previous year, reflecting the deterioration
experienced in the timber industry. Revenue,
however was similar to the previous year, due to
an improvement in pricing which resulted in the
stumpage edging gradually back to previous levels.

• Some 3824 hectares of regenerated area has been
submitted to the DSE for transfer to the State. This
process was not completed at year-end. Biological
timber assets would be expected to reduce by $6.3
million, once this is completed.
The tight market conditions affected even the cash
flow of some major customers. One large sawlog
customer exited the saw milling business all together
and stopped taking timber during 2010-11. Prudent
credit management has meant that some customers
have required payment plans in order to reduce their
debts in a structured manner. In some instances supply
has been suspended, where the account conduct
exceeded agreed limits.
Total liabilities increased from $36.8 million in 2010
to $42.5 million in 2011 due to the increased finance
requirement for the increased level of receivables.

Cash flows
The net cash flow from operating activities remained
negative as a major sawlog customer delayed payments
of up to $7.2 million. This customer resumed payments
in July/August 2011 with the account expected to be
current by the end of August 2011. The penalty interest
recovered from such overdue accounts is used to offset
the cost of short-term funding facility provided by the
Treasury Corporation of Victoria. Without this delay
VicForests would have returned to a positive operational
cash flow position in 2011.

Sustainable – We respect and care for our environment and the communities in which we operate
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Section 2: Governance and organisational structure

VicForests Board of Directors
Warren Hodgson
BSc, Dip Met E, FAICD.
Chairman
Director, Melbourne Water
Director, Cube Management Solutions
Director (Chair) CenITex
Hon. Monica Gould
Director Youth Projects Ltd
Director, LUCRF – CPT
Fiona McNabb
BSc, CFTP, FFin, GAICD
Deputy Trustee Director, VicSuper
Climate Alliance Limited Advisory Board Member
Director, O’Brien Software Services Pty Ltd
Director, Australian Poetry Centre
Director, Baseball Victoria
Chair, CFO Roundtable, Committee for the Economic
Development of Australia
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Bob Smith
BSc (Hons 1), MSc, MBA, PhD
Director, First Super Pty Ltd
Director, Forest Products Commission of West Australia
Director, Leaf Carbon Pty Ltd
Director, Trueblue Mallee P/L
Acting Commissioner, Land and Environment Court (NSW)
Trevor Smith
Managing Director, Advisory Consulting Employment
Services Pty Ltd (ACES)
Chair, South East Forestry Industry Roundtable
Former Director, Australian Forestry Standard Limited
Susan Walpole
B. Juris., LLB, Grad. Dip. (Media Management)
Director, Victorian Legal Aid Commission
Chair, Audit Committee, Victorian Legal Aid Commission
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Board Meetings

VicForests’ Executives

Name of Meeting
Board

Meetings Number of Meetings
Scheduled
held 2010-11

Chair
Warren Hodgson

8

9

David Pollard
BEcon (Hons), MA (Econ), PhD (Syd)

Chief Executive Officer
Stephen Gatley

Committee Meetings

BComm, CA (NZICA)

Chief Accountant
Meetings Number of Meetings
Scheduled
held 2010-11

Name of Meeting Members
Audit and Risk
Management
Committee

Fiona McNabb (Chair)
Monica Gould
Bob Smith

5

Executive
Remuneration
Committee

Susan Walpole (Chair)
Monica Gould
Warren Hodgson

1

5

Robert Green
BComm (Econ) Hons

Director, Sales
Gerhard Hinz
Chief Financial Officer

1

Lachlan Spencer
B For Sci

Director, Planning

Occupational
Health,
Safety and
Environmental
Risk Committee

Monica Gould (Chair)
Trevor Smith

Business
Development
Committee

Susan Walpole (Chair)
Fiona McNabb
Bob Smith

3

3

Nathan Trushell
BSc (REM), MIFA

Director, Corporate Affairs
Brad Winthrop
2

2

Dip Forestry

Director, Operations

Committees
Audit and Risk
Management Committee
The primary objective of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee
(ARMC) is to assist the Board to
fulfil its corporate governance and
oversight responsibilities relating
to financial accounting practices,
risk management, internal control
systems, external financial reporting
and the internal and external audit
function. In fulfilling this function,
the ARMC must conform to the
Victorian Government’s Financial
Management Compliance Framework
(FMCF). Specifically, the ARMC’s
role is to report to the Board and
provide appropriate advice and
recommendations on matters relevant
to these areas in order to facilitate
decision-making by the Board.

Executive Remuneration Committee
The primary role of the Executive
Remuneration Committee is to
review and approve executive
remuneration in accordance with
Government Sector Executive
Remuneration Panel guidelines
and policies.

Occupational Health, Safety and
Environmental Risk Committee
The OHS and Environmental Risk
Committee was established to
assist the Board by addressing the
appropriateness of operational
risk management for OHS and
environmental practices so these risks
are managed in the best interests of
VicForests and its stakeholders, as well
as monitoring VicForests’ compliance

Customer Focussed – We are responsible in our commercial dealings

with legal and regulatory obligations
in OH&S, environmental policies and
other matters relating to OH&S.
The work of the Committee
is directed towards OHS and
environmental matters arising from
the activities of VicForests and
the impact of those activities on
employees, contractors, customers
and suppliers, business partners and
the communities and environments
in which VicForests operates.

Business Development Committee
The Business Development
Committee was developed to
facilitate and recommend viable
business development opportunities
to the Board.
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Section 3: Workforce data

• Internal OH&S auditing: All 11
work locations were audited
between November 2010 and
February 2011 by members
of the OHS team. The team
members who conducted the
audits were all appropriately
trained to ensure consistency
and quality of audits.
• External auditing: The OH&S team
developed internal audit criteria
for contractor safety management
systems and field audits.
• Calling for tenders for external
auditing services: This change has
brought about a revitalised and
independent review of contractor’s
safety management systems.
• Increased engagement with
contractors and contractor
ownership of the safety
management process.
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All these initiatives aim for better
engagement and ownership of
safety management. This is crucial in
maintaining and improving safety in
our workplace and in achieving Zero
Harm outcomes.

Incidents and injuries for
the past year
Staff
Lost time injuries for staff remained
low during the year, so any injury
will have a marked effect on
reporting. This can be seen in
Graph 1, Staff 7-Year Incident
Summary, with a spike in severity
rate for the last two years resulting
from a single incident. The staff
member has returned to full-time
duties and the severity rate is
expected to reduce significantly.

No.

LTIs

LTIFR

Severity Rate
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6–0
200

5–0

5

0
200

• Haulage auditing: After the
development of a haulage
auditing report last year more
than 60 haulage audits were
conducted during 2010-11.

Staff 7-year Incident Summary

4–0

VicForests has formally adopted
a goal of Zero Harm within its
Occupational Health and Safety
policy and its stated values.
The changes that have been
implemented as part of this
initiative include:

Graph 1:

200

Occupational Health and
Safety (OH&S)

• Management of alcohol and
drugs in the workplace: A policy
is being developed, following
considerable consultation with
industry and VicForests staff. The
policy will included requirements
for drug and alcohol testing for
staff and contractors. Training
is also being developed to assist
supervisors in managing their
role in VicForests’ Alcohol and
Drugs Policy.

Year

Contractors
Graph 2 shows a steady decline
in injury frequency for VicForests
contractors. Both our contractors,
and staff have shown commitment
to this area, particularly over the
last 12 months.

Graph 2:
Contractor 5-year Incident
Summary
No.

LTIs

LTIFR

Severity Rate

90
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Performance against OH&S management measures
Objectives

Targets

Report

Result

Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate
(LTIFR) measured

10% less than the
2009-10 result

LTIFR

Partially achieved Staff: 1% reduction

7.9 for staff

Contractors: 39% reduction

13.9 for contractors
Average lost
time rate (ALTR)
measured

10% less than the
2009-10 result

ALTR

Partially achieved Staff: 13% reduction

34.5 for staff

Contractors: 4% reduction

49.3 for contractors
Medical Treatment
Injury Frequency
Rate (MTIFR)
measured

10% less than the
2009-10 result

Achieved Staff: 84% reduction

23.7 for staff

Contractors: 31% reduction

3.5 for contractors

Incidents reported: Staff: > 50%
% of near miss
reports

MTIFR

Contractors: > 20%
(for each region)

No. of incidents (including
near misses)

Partially achieved Of 38 staff incidents, 17 (45%)
were near misses
Of 85 contractor incidents, 73
(86%) were near misses

Vehicle incidents
(staff only)

25% reduction in total No. of incidents vs
incidents
2009-10

Not achieved - Increased from 12
to 13

Incident
investigation

85% of incidents
investigated

No. of investigations vs no.
of incidents reported

Achieved -

(Staff only)

60% of incidents
investigated within
1 week of being
reported

No. of investigations
completed within 5 working
days of report

All staff have basic
OH&S training

Manual handling
risks assessed

Internal audits

Policy reviewed

All new staff to receive No. of new staff
OH&S induction
No. trained
training

Of 38 incidents, 36 (95%) were
investigated
Of the 36 incidents investigated 23
(64%) were completed on time
68% fully trained within 6
months
100% trained

Each work centre or
office assessed for
manual handling tasks

No. of manual handling risks One new manual handling risk
identified
was identified
No. of risk assessments
completed

Two Risk Assessments were
completed

1 per site

No. of audits

Audits were completed at all 11 sites

Audit scores

Scores ranged from 96% to 79%
(averaging 90%)

Annually by May 2011 Date reviewed

February 2011

Sustainable – We respect and care for our environment and the communities in which we operate
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Employee relations
VicForests Enterprise Bargaining
Agreement 2009
No time was lost due to industrial
disputes during 2010-11.

Employment Summary
(full time equivalent)
Male Female

Total

Executive

7

0

7

Senior
Managers*

12

4

16

Operations**

72

33

105

Total

91

37

128

* Senior Managers are staff at a Career
Level 6 or higher.
** Operations includes Corporate Affairs,
Finance, Human Resources, Information
Systems, Planning, Sales, Contracting,
Harvesting, Roading, Delivery and Silviculture.
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Staff Awards

Promoting Diversity

The VicForests staff recognition
program identifies and rewards
staff who model our corporate
values. This year we recognised
the following staff: Shefika Faralla
(Customer Focused), Les Coles
(Customer Focused), Liz Langford
(Sustainable), Glen Dooley
(Sustainable), Elizabeth Monea
(Safe), Deborah Szabo (Professional)
and David Walsh (Professional).

VicForests fostered workplace
diversity and a commitment to
an inclusive work environment
by implementing a number of
workplace diversity initiatives
throughout the year.

Employment and
Conduct Principles
VicForests is committed to
applying merit and equity
principles when appointing staff.
The selection processes ensure
that applicants are assessed and
evaluated fairly and equitably
on the basis of the key selection
criteria and other accountabilities.

Safe – We aim for zero harm in all that we do
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Section 4: Other disclosures
Legal and other
compliance:
Disclosure of major contracts
VicForests has not entered into any
individual procurement contracts
over $10 million.

Compliance with the Freedom of
Information Act 1982
The Freedom of Information Act
1982 allows the public a right
of access to documents held by
VicForests. From 1 July 2010 to 30
June 2011, VicForests received six
Freedom of Information requests.
All the requests, received from the
general public were granted partial
access. One went to internal review
with none progressing to the
appeal stage.

Freedom of Information Officer
VicForests
G.P.O. Box 191,
Melbourne Victoria 3001.
Access charges may also apply once
documents have been processed
and a decision on access is made;
for example photocopying and
search and retrieval charges.
Further information regarding
Freedom of Information can be
found at www.foi.vic.gov.au.

Compliance with the Building
Act 1993
VicForests endeavours to ensure
that contractors comply with the
Building Act 1993 in respect to new
building works and alterations to
existing buildings.

Making a request

Compliance with the Information
Privacy Act 2000

Access to documents may be
obtained through written request
to the Freedom of Information
Manager, as detailed in s17 of the
Freedom of Information Act 1982.
In summary, the requirements for
making a request are:

In keeping with the Information
Privacy Act 2000, VicForests has
developed and implemented a
Privacy Policy. VicForests’ Privacy
Policy can be obtained from
VicForests or viewed on the website
at www.vicforests.com.au.

• it should be in writing;

Compliance with the National
Competition Policy

• it should identify as clearly as
possible which document is
being requested; and
• it should be accompanied by the
application fee of $24.40 (the
fee may be waived in certain
circumstances).
Requests for documents in the
possession of VicForests should be
addressed to:

legislative proposals, should not
restrict competition unless it can be
demonstrated that:
• t he benefits of the restriction
to the community as a whole
outweigh the costs; and
• t he objectives of the legislation
can only be achieved by
restricting competition.
VicForests continues to comply with
the requirements of the National
Competition Policy.
Competitive neutrality requires
government businesses to ensure
that where services compete,
or potentially compete with the
private sector, any advantage
arising solely from their
government ownership be removed
if they are not in the public
interest. Government businesses
are required to cost and price these
services as if they were privately
owned and thus be fully cost
reflective. Competitive neutrality
policy provides government
businesses with a tool to enhance
decisions on resource allocation.
This policy does not override other
policy objectives of government
and focuses on efficiency in the
provision of service.

In 1996, all Australian governments
(Commonwealth, State and
Territory) agreed to review and,
where appropriate, reform all
existing legislative restrictions
on competition. Under National
Competition Policy, the guiding
legislative principle is that
legislation, including future
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Compliance with the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001
The following information is required in the Annual Report pursuant to section 104 of the Whistleblowers
Protection Act 2001.
The number and types of disclosures made to VicForests during the year.

Nil

The number of disclosures referred to the Ombudsman for determination as to whether they are
public interest disclosures.

Nil

The number and types of disclosed matters referred to VicForests by the Ombudsman for investigation.

Nil

The number and types of disclosures referred by VicForests to the Ombudsman for investigation.

Nil

The number and types of investigations taken over from VicForests by the Ombudsman.

Nil

The number of requests made by a whistleblower to the Ombudsman to take over an
investigation by VicForests.

Nil

The number and types of disclosed matters that VicForests has declined to investigate.

Nil

The number and types of disclosed matters that were substantiated upon investigation and the
action taken on completion of the investigation.

Nil

Any recommendations made by the Ombudsman that relate to VicForests.

Nil

Message from the CEO
VicForests is committed to the aims and objectives of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (the Act). It does not
tolerate improper conduct by its employees, officers or members, nor the taking of reprisals against those who
come forward to disclose such conduct.
VicForests recognises the value of transparency and accountability in its administrative and management practices, and
supports the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving a substantial mismanagement of
public resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public health and safety or the environment.
VicForests will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures from any detrimental
action in reprisal for making the disclosure. It will also afford natural justice to the person who is the subject
of the disclosure.
During 2010-11 there were no disclosures made under this legislation.
David Pollard
CEO

20

Professional – We operate in an ethical, efficient and accountable manner

VICFORESTS ANNUAL REPORT 2010-11

The current procedures established under
part 6 of the Act are as follows.
1. Statement of support to
whistleblowers
VicForests is committed to the aims and
objectives of the Whistleblowers Protection Act
2001 (the Act). It does not tolerate improper
conduct by its employees or officers, nor the
taking of reprisals against those who come
forward to disclose such conduct. VicForests will
take all reasonable steps to protect people who
make such disclosures from any detrimental
action in reprisal for making the disclosure. It
will also afford natural justice to the person
who is the subject of the disclosure.
2. Purpose of these procedures
These procedures establish a system for
reporting disclosures of improper conduct
or detrimental action by VicForests or
its employees. The system enables such
disclosures to be made to the protected
disclosure coordinator or to the nominated
protected disclosure officer. A copy of
the extended version of these procedures
will be provided to any person involved
in a whistleblower disclosure, including
the whistleblower and the person against
whom the disclosure is made. These
procedures are designed to complement
normal communication channels between
supervisors and employees. Employees
may raise appropriate matters at any time
with their supervisors. As an alternative,
employees may make a disclosure of
improper conduct or detrimental action
under the Act in accordance with
these procedures.

Improper conduct means:
• corrupt conduct;
• a substantial mismanagement of
public resources;
• c onduct involving substantial risk to
public health or safety; or
• c onduct involving substantial risk to the
environment.
The conduct must also, if proved, be serious
enough to constitute a criminal offence
or reasonable grounds for terminating the
employment of a public officer.
Corrupt conduct means:
• c onduct of any person (whether or not a
public officer) that adversely affects the
honest performance of a public officer’s
or public body’s functions;
• t he conduct of a public officer in
circumstances where he or she has
discharged his or her functions with
dishonesty or inappropriate partiality;
• c onduct of a public officer, former public
officer or a public body that amounts to
a breach of public trust;
• c onduct by a public officer, former public
officer or a public body that amounts
to the misuse of information or material
acquired in the course of the performance
of his or her official functions; or

Melbourne 3000
by mail: GPO Box 191, Melbourne 3001
All correspondence, phone calls
and emails from internal or external
whistleblowers will be referred to the
protected disclosure coordinator or the
protected disclosure officer.
The Ombudsman
A disclosure about improper conduct or
detrimental action by VicForests or its
employees, may also be made directly to
the Ombudsman:
Ombudsman Victoria
Level 3, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000 (DX 210174)
Internet:www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au
Email:ombudvic@ombudsman.vic.gov.au
Tel: (03) 9613 6222 or
Toll Free: 1800 806 314
6. Roles and responsibilities
Employees
Employees may report known or suspected
incidents involving improper conduct or
detrimental action in accordance with
these procedures.

• action causing injury, loss or damage;

All employees of VicForests have a role
to play in supporting those who have
made a legitimate disclosure. They must
refrain from any activity that is, or could
be perceived to be, victimisation or
harassment of a person who makes a
disclosure. Furthermore, he/she should
protect and maintain the confidentiality
of a person known or suspected to have
made a disclosure

3. Objects of the Act

• intimidation or harassment; and

Protected disclosure coordinator

The purpose of the Whistleblowers Protection
Act 2001 is to facilitate the making of
disclosures of improper conduct by public
officers and public bodies. The Act provides
protection to whistleblowers who make
disclosures in accordance with the Act,
and establishes a system for the matters
disclosed to be investigated and rectifying
action to be taken.

 iscrimination, disadvantage or adverse
• d
treatment in relation to a person’s
employment, career, profession, trade
or business, including the taking of
disciplinary action.

The VicForests protected disclosure
coordinator will:

4. Definitions of key terms
Whistleblower means any person who
believes on reasonable grounds that
a public officer or public body has
engaged in or proposes to engage in
improper conduct or reprisals against a
whistleblower and who makes a disclosure
in accordance with the Act about that
improper conduct, or reprisal with a view
to the matter being investigated and
appropriate action being taken.

• a conspiracy or attempt to engage in
corrupt conduct.
Detrimental action includes:

5. Reporting system in VicForests
Contact person within VicForests
Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental
action by VicForests or its employees, may be
made to the following officers:
Protected disclosure coordinator
Josephine Tan – General Counsel,
in person: Level 7, 473 Bourke St,
Melbourne 3000;
by mail: GPO Box 191, Melbourne 3001

• receive all communications from persons
seeking to make a disclosure;
• assess each disclosure to determine
whether it is a public interest disclosure;
• be a contact point for parties involved in
a disclosure (including the Ombudsman)
and provide general advice about the
operation of the Act;
• be responsible for ensuring that VicForests
carries out its responsibilities under the Act;

Protected disclosure officer

• be responsible for carrying out, or
appointing an investigator to carry out,
and overseeing an investigation referred
to the public body by the Ombudsman;

Rebecca Gauci – Manager Human Resources
in person: Level 7, 473 Bourke St,

• where necessary, appoint a welfare
manager to support the whistleblower;
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• take all necessary steps to ensure the
identity of the whistleblower and the
identity of the person who is the subject
of the disclosure are kept confidential.
Others
The investigator will be responsible for
carrying out an internal investigation into
a disclosure where the Ombudsman has
referred a matter to the public body, and
may be a person from within VicForests or
an external consultant. The welfare manager
is responsible for looking after the general
welfare of the whistleblower.
7. Confidentiality
VicForests and its staff will take all
reasonable steps to protect the identity
of the whistleblower. Maintaining
confidentiality is crucial in ensuring
that reprisals are not made against a
whistleblower. Disclosure of information in
breach of section 22 constitutes an offence
that is punishable by a maximum fine of 60
penalty units or six months imprisonment or
both. In certain circumstances described in
the Act, a person may disclose information
obtained about a protected disclosure.
It is also the responsibility of whistleblowers
to keep their disclosure confidential. If a
disclosure is repeated to an unauthorised
person, the whistleblower will lose the
protections that would otherwise have
been afforded to that person under the Act.
For example, if a disclosure is repeated to
the media, the whistleblower will not be
protected from actions in defamation for
any allegations reported.
8. Receiving and assessing disclosures
To be a protected disclosure, a disclosure
must satisfy the following criteria:
• a natural person (that is, an individual
person rather than a corporation) is
making the disclosure;
• the disclosure relates to conduct of a
public body or public officer acting in his
or her official capacity;
• the alleged conduct is improper conduct
or detrimental action taken against a
person in reprisal for making a protected
disclosure; and
• the person making a disclosure has
reasonable grounds for believing the
alleged conduct has occurred.
Only ‘protected disclosures’ made in accordance
with the requirements in Part 2 of the Act
attract the protections offered to people
making disclosures. In order to be a protected
disclosure, it must be about improper conduct
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or detrimental action, made by a natural
person, to the right person or public body,
disclose conduct of a public body or public
officer acting in his or her official capacity,
allege improper conduct or detrimental action
and the person must have reasonable grounds
for believing that the conduct has occurred.
Where a disclosure has been received, the
protected disclosure coordinator will assess
whether the disclosure has been made in
accordance with Part 2 of the Act and is,
therefore, a protected disclosure.
Disclosures of improper conduct or
detrimental action by VicForests or its
employees may be made to either VicForests
or to the Ombudsman. VicForests cannot
respond to disclosures which do not relate
to VicForests or its employees or officers.
Where the protected disclosure officer or
coordinator has received a disclosure that
has been assessed as a protected disclosure,
the protected disclosure coordinator
will determine whether the disclosure
amounts to a public interest disclosure. This
assessment will be made within 45 days of
the receipt of the disclosure.
In reaching a conclusion as to whether
a protected disclosure is a public interest
disclosure, the protected disclosure
coordinator will consider whether the
disclosure shows, or tends to show, that the
public officer to whom the disclosure relates:
• has engaged, is engaging or proposes to
engage in improper conduct in his or her
capacity as a public officer; or
• has taken, is taking or proposes to take
detrimental action in reprisal for the
making of the protected disclosure.
Where the protected disclosure coordinator
concludes that the disclosure amounts to a
public interest disclosure, VicForests must
within 14 days:

disclosure is a public interest disclosure,
and that this request must be made
within 28 days of the notification.
If the whistleblower makes this request for
referral, VicForests must immediately refer the
matter to the Ombudsman for determination
as to whether a matter is a public interest
disclosure. Where appropriate, VicForests
may also refer a person to an alternative
avenue to seek redress. Notification to the
whistleblower is not necessary where the
disclosure has been made anonymously.
9. Investigations
Where the Ombudsman refers a protected
disclosure to VicForests for investigation, the
protected disclosure coordinator will appoint
an investigator to carry out the investigation
which will involve:
• collecting information relating to the
allegation as quickly as possible. This may
involve taking steps to protect or preserve
documents, materials and equipment;
• considering the information collected
and to draw conclusions objectively
and impartially;
• maintaining procedural fairness in the
treatment of witnesses and the person
who is the subject of the disclosure; and
• making recommendations arising from
the conclusions drawn concerning
remedial or other appropriate action.
Before commencing an investigation,
the protected disclosure coordinator will
draw up terms of reference and obtain
authorisation for those terms by the Chief
Executive Officer of VicForests.
The investigator will prepare an investigation
plan for approval by the protected disclosure
coordinator, addressing the following issues:
• what is being alleged?
• what are the possible findings
or offences?

• notify the person who made the
disclosure of that conclusion; and
• refer the disclosure to the Ombudsman
for formal determination as to whether it
is indeed a public interest disclosure.
Where the protected disclosure coordinator
concludes that the disclosure is not a public
interest disclosure, VicForests must within
14 days:
• notify the person who made the
disclosure of that conclusion; and
• advise that person that he or she may
request the public body to refer the
disclosure to the Ombudsman for a
formal determination as to whether the

• what are the facts in issue?
• how is the inquiry to be conducted?
• what resources are required?
The principles of procedural fairness will
be followed in any investigation of a
public interest disclosure. The principles of
procedural fairness ensure a fair decision
is reached by an objective decision maker.
Maintaining procedural fairness protects the
rights of individuals and enhances public
confidence in the process.
The protected disclosure coordinator will
ensure that the whistleblower is kept
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regularly informed about the handling of a
protected disclosure and an investigation.

11. Managing the welfare of
the whistleblower

10. Action taken after an investigation

• the allegation/s;

VicForests is committed to the protection
of people who make protected disclosures
against detrimental action taken in reprisal
for the making of protected disclosures. The
protected disclosure coordinator will appoint
a welfare manager to all whistleblowers
who have made a protected disclosure.

• an account of all relevant information
received and, if the investigator has
rejected evidence as being unreliable, the
reasons for this opinion being formed;

The protected disclosure coordinator will
ensure that the whistleblower is kept
informed of action taken in relation to his or
her disclosure and the time frames that apply.

• the conclusions reached and the basis for
them; and

Where a person who makes a disclosure
is implicated in misconduct, VicForests
will handle the disclosure and protect
the whistleblower from reprisals in
accordance with the Act, the Ombudsman’s
guidelines and these procedures. VicForests
acknowledges that the act of whistleblowing
should not shield whistleblowers from the
reasonable consequences flowing from any
involvement in improper conduct. Section
17 of the Act specifically provides that a
person’s liability for his or her own conduct
is not affected by the person’s disclosure of
that conduct under the Act. However, in
some circumstances, an admission may be a
mitigating factor when considering disciplinary
or other action. The Chief Executive Officer of
VicForests will make the final decision on the
advice of the protected disclosure coordinator
as to whether disciplinary or other action will
be taken against a whistleblower.

At the conclusion of the investigation, the
investigator will submit a written report
of findings to the protected disclosure
coordinator. The report will contain:

• any recommendations arising from
the conclusions.
Where the investigator has found that the
conduct disclosed by the whistleblower has
occurred, recommendations made by the
investigator will include:
• the steps that need to be taken by
VicForests to prevent the conduct from
continuing or occurring in the future; and
• any action that should be taken by
VicForests to remedy any harm or loss
arising from the conduct. This action
may include bringing disciplinary
proceedings against the person
responsible for the conduct, and
referring the matter to an appropriate
authority for further consideration.
Where the investigator’s report is to include
an adverse comment against any person,
that person will be given the opportunity
to respond and his or her defence will be
fairly included in the report. The report will
not disclose particulars likely to lead to the
identification of the whistleblower.
If the protected disclosure coordinator is
satisfied that the investigation has found that
the disclosed conduct has occurred, he or
she will recommend to the Chief Executive
Officer the action that must be taken
to prevent the conduct from continuing
or recurring. The protected disclosure
coordinator may also recommend that action
be taken to remedy any harm or loss arising
from the conduct. The protected disclosure
coordinator will provide a written report to
the relevant Minister, the Ombudsman and
the whistleblower setting out the findings
of the investigation and any remedial steps
taken. Where the investigation concludes
that the disclosed conduct did not occur, the
protected disclosure coordinator will report
these findings to the Ombudsman and to
the whistleblower.

12.Management of the person against
whom a disclosure has been made
VicForests recognises that employees
against whom disclosures are made must
also be supported during the handling
and investigation of disclosures. VicForests
will take all reasonable steps to ensure
the confidentiality of the person who is
the subject of the disclosure during the
assessment and investigation process.
The protected disclosure coordinator will
ensure that the person who is the subject of
any disclosure investigated by or on behalf
of a public body:
• is informed as to the substance of
the allegations;
• is given the opportunity to answer the
allegations before a final decision is made;

Where the allegations in a disclosure
have been investigated, and the person
who is the subject of the disclosure is
aware of the allegations or the fact of
the investigation, the protected disclosure
coordinator will formally advise the person
who is the subject of the disclosure of the
outcome of the investigation. VicForests
will support a person who is the subject
of a disclosure where the allegations
contained in a disclosure are clearly wrong
or unsubstantiated.
13. Criminal offences
VicForests will ensure that officers appointed
to handle protected disclosures and other
employees are aware of the offences created
by the Act, including taking detrimental action
against a whistleblower, divulging information
obtained as a result of the handling or
investigation of a protected disclosure without
authority, obstructing the Ombudsman and
knowingly provide false information.
14. Collecting and publishing statistics
The protected disclosure coordinator will
establish a secure register to record the
information required to be published in
the annual report, and to generally keep
account of the status of whistleblower
disclosures. The register will be confidential
and will not record any information that
may identify the whistleblower.
15. Review
These procedures will be reviewed
periodically to ensure that they meet the
objectives of the Act.

Compliance with the Victorian
Industry Participation Policy
Act 2003
The Victorian Industry Participation
Policy Act 2003 (VIPP) requires
relevant Departments to report
on any contracts entered over $3
million in metropolitan Melbourne
or $1 million in regional Victoria.
VicForests continues to observe the
VIPP objectives in its procurement and
tendering mechanisms and processes.

• is informed as to the substance of
any adverse comment that may be
included in any report arising from the
investigation; and

Reporting of Office-based
Environmental Impacts

• has his or her defence set out fairly in
any report.

VicForests is exempt from the
reporting requirements of this item.
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Comprehensive Operating Statement for the reporting period ended 30 June 2011
Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Revenue from sales of forest products

3(a)

131,414

131,588

Grant Bushfire Recovery

3(a)

5,885

10,860

Services provided to other Government Entities

3(a)

1,439

1,474

Interest

3(a)

447

305

Other income

3(a)

89

570

139,274

144,797

Revenue from operating activities

Total Revenue
Expenses from operating activities
Production expenses

3(b)(i)

(101,985)

(108,097)

Employee expenses

3(b)(ii)

(14,102)

(13,349)

Roading and regeneration expenses

3(b)(iii)

(7,052)

(5,281)

Depreciation

3(b)(v)

(960)

(1,069)

Amortisation

3(b)(vi)

(3,483)

(3,820)

(830)

(465)

(8,800)

(10,939)

(137,212)

(143,020)

2,062

1,777

(582)

(514)

1,480

1,263

Borrowing expenses
Other expenses

3(b)(iv)

Total expenses
Operating result before tax
Income Tax expense

4

Operating result after tax
Other economic flow for the year, included in net result

4(c)

1,204

3,327

Income Tax expense relating to other economic flows

4 (c)

(361)

(998)

Other economic flow for the year, net of tax

3(c)

843

2,329

Net result

2,323

3,592

Total comprehensive income

2,323

3,592

The above Comprehensive Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2011
Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

5, 20

125

3

Trade and other receivables

6, 20

33,244

30,083

Inventories

7

16,027

16,706

Biological timber assets

8

3,387

3,514

99

411

ASSETS
Current assets

Prepayments
Other current assets

9

Total current assets

4,146

2,499

57,028

53,216

4,872

5,196

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

11

Intangible assets

12

15

51

Biological timber assets

8

24,027

12,707

Other non-current assets

9

352

377

10 (d)

2,410

2,186

Total non-current assets

31,676

20,517

TOTAL ASSETS

88,704

73,733

Deferred tax assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables

13, 20

7,864

10,929

Borrowings

14, 20

25,155

19,209

Employee benefits

15

2,377

2,238

Provisions

16

4,928

3,561

10(a)

1,197

0

41,521

35,937

Current tax liability
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

14, 20

0

84

Employee benefits

15

559

420

Other provisions

16

352

377

Other liabilities

17

20

8

931

889

TOTAL LIABILITIES

42,452

36,826

NET ASSETS

46,252

36,907

Total non-current liabilities

EQUITY
Contributions by owners

18

37,851

30,898

Reserves

19

208

139

8,193

5,870

46,252

36,907

Accumulated surplus
Total equity
The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the reporting period ended 30 June 2011
Physical Asset Accumulated
Revaluation Surplus
Surplus
Note(s)

$’000

$’000

$’000

139

2,278

28,264

30,681

0

3,592

0

3,592

Net result for the year
18

Balance at 30 June 2010
Net result for the year
Deferred tax adjustment
Biological timber asset transfer (net)

Total at
30 June

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2009
Biological timber asset transfer (net)

Contribution
by owner

18

0

0

2,634

2,634

139

5,870

30,898

36,907

0

2,323

0

2,323

(30)

0

0

(30)

0

0

6,953

6,953

Revaluation of Fixed Assets

99

0

0

99

Balance at 30 June 2011

208

8,193

37,851

46,252

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash Flow Statement for the reporting period ended 30 June 2011
Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

146,816

154,305

26

17

489

828

147,331

155,150

(149,935)

(170,265)

(810)

(389)

(1,769)

(803)

(152,514)

(171,457)

(5,183)

(16,307)

(567)

(438)

(10)

(37)

Cash flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
Receipts from customers
Interest received on cash and cash equivalents
GST received from ATO
Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest and other costs of finance paid
GST/FBT paid to the ATO
Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities

26

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Payments for property, plant, and equipment
Payment for intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

37

29

(540)

(446)

Proceeds from borrowings

128,930

132,676

Repayment of borrowings

(123,085)

(115,953)

5,845

16,723

122

(30)

3

33

125

3

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from investing activities
Cash flows from Financing Activities

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from financing activities
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

5

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the reporting period ended 30 June 2011
Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Accounting
General
VicForests is a State Owned Enterprise established on 28 October 2003 by the Governor in Council
acting under Section 14 of the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992. VicForests commenced operations
on 1 August 2004.
The financial statements of VicForests represent a general-purpose financial report that consists of a
Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement
and notes accompanying these statements.
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
(AAS), Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board and the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Ministerial Directions.
The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual and going concern basis.
Accounting policies
Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies applied are consistent with those of the prior year. Where
appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation and disclosure
made of material changes to comparatives.
Classification between current and non-current
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or non-current, consideration is given to
the time when each asset or liability is expected to be realised or paid. The asset or liability is classified as
current if it is expected to be turned over within the next 12 months, being VicForests’ operational cycle–see
Note 1(s) for a variation in relation to employee benefits.
Rounding
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards (AAS)
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying VicForests’
accounting policies.
Financial statement presentation
VicForests has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which became effective
for the period starting on or after 1 January 2009.
(b) Changes in Accounting Policy
The accounting policies are consistent with those of the previous year, unless stated otherwise.
(c) Comparative Amounts
Where necessary, figures for the previous year have been reclassified to facilitate comparison.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(d) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. VicForests is recognising
revenue for its major business activities as follows:
Sales of forest products
Revenue is generated from timber sales (sawlogs and pulpwood logs) and licence fees. Revenue is
recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the owner and the costs
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. The point at which
revenue is billable for the products sold is when the timber is delivered to the mill door. Deliveries are billed
progressively throughout the year by way of a monthly invoice at which time the sales revenue is recognised.
Rendering of services
VicForests provides services to government agencies, primarily the Department of Sustainability and Environment
(DSE). Services are charged on a cost recovery basis and brought to account as work is completed.
Interest and rents
Interest and rentals are recognised as revenue when earned or the service provided.
2009 Fire Salvage Program funding
The post-fire timber salvage harvesting program continued in 2010-11 and was targeted at the high value
fire-affected ash stands burned in the February 2009 bush fires.
The Government approved funding up to $18 million for the period 2008-9 to 2011-12 for VicForests to
conduct this comprehensive timber recovery and salvage program in the fire affected Central Highlands
region. This funding covers all incremental operating expenses incurred by VicForests directly connected with
the salvage operation which does not include the reduced commercial value of fire affected timber.
During the 2010-11 salvage operation VicForests incurred additional production expenses of $5,884,618
which are claimable and were also recognised as revenue in the Comprehensive Operating Statement. Of
this amount $5,426,339 was reimbursed from this salvage funding prior to 30 June 2011. The remaining
balance on the approved funding will be reimbursed in 2011-12.
(e) Mill Door Sales and Harvest and Haulage
Since July 2006 VicForests has adopted the Mill Door Sales model. The harvesting and haulage sector was
previously contracted to, and controlled by, timber buyers organised into harvesting syndicates. As a result
of this change, VicForests is responsible for all associated harvesting and haulage expenditure and includes
them in the production expenses which then are recouped in increased selling prices. The purpose of this
model is to provide for greater efficiencies and competitive tendering.
(f) Borrowing Expenses
Borrowing expenses are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
expenses include interest on a loan facility provided by the Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) and
finance lease charges.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(g) Other economic flows included in the Total comprehensive income for the year
Net gain / (loss) on non-financial assets
The net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses
as follows:
Revaluation gains / (losses) of non-current physical assets
The revaluation of inventories, biological timber assets, property, plant and equipment is disclosed in the
other economic flows.
Gain / (loss) arising from the fair value changes of biological timber assets
Biological timber assets are measured at fair value, and the resultant gain/(loss) is reported as an other
economic flows.
Disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised at the date that the control of the asset is passed
to the buyer and is determined after deducting from the proceeds the carrying value of the asset at the time.
(h) Recognition and Measurement of Assets
Property, plant and equipment represent non-current assets comprising buildings, roads and bridges, plant
and equipment, motor vehicles and assets under construction, used by VicForests in its operations. Items
with a cost or value in excess of $1,000 are recognised as an asset and depreciated over their useful lives.
All other assets acquired are expensed directly to the Comprehensive Operating Statement.
Initial Recognition / Acquisition
Assets purchased or constructed are recognised initially at cost.
The initial cost of the asset is determined by aggregating the purchase or subcontract price and directly
attributable costs. VicForests examined all assets and specifically roads and determined that any make good
costs were not material and therefore were not recorded in the asset cost base.
Repairs and maintenance
Routine maintenance, repair costs and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the repair
relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold, the
cost is capitalised and depreciated.
Revaluations of non-current physical assets
In accordance with FRD 103D all non-current physical assets of VicForests are classified under the
Government Purpose Classification (GPC) Group 6.Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing. After initial recognition all
non-current physical assets were measured using the revaluation model (being its fair value at the date of
the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses).
For roads and bridges, plant and equipment, vehicles and assets under construction, management has
assessed that the depreciated cost represents reasonable approximation of fair value. This has also been
applied to leasehold improvements where the capital expenditure will be depreciated over the term of the
respective lease agreements.
All assets within the GPC 6. are re-valued as per revaluation schedule in FRD 103D undertaken every
five years with a fair value assessment being conducted annually to determine if it is materially different
to carrying value. If the difference to carrying value is greater than 10%, a management revaluation is
undertaken while a movement greater than 40% will normally involve an Approved Valuer to perform
detailed assessment of the fair value. In 2011 all buildings have been re-valued by an approved valuer in line
with FRD 103D with the revaluation increments credited directly to equity in the asset revaluation reserve.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the other economic flows, except that,
to the extent that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of asset,
they are debited to the asset revaluation reserve.
Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within a class of property, plant
and equipment are offset against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in
different classes.
The asset revaluation reserve is not transferred to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset.
Impairment of Assets
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested annually as to whether their carrying value exceeds
their recoverable amount. All other assets are assessed annually for indicators of impairment, except for:
• Financial assets

• Biological timber assets

• Inventories

• Deferred tax assets.

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value
exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the
difference is written-off by a charge to the other economic flows except to the extent that the write-down
can be debited to an asset revaluation reserve amount applicable to that class of asset.
The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and
fair value less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is
measured at the higher of the present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset
and fair value less costs to sell.
It is deemed that, in the event of the loss of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of
the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made.
A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the heading
revaluation reserve. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same class of asset was
previously recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is also
recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement.
(i)

Depreciation and Amortisation of Non-Current Assets
Where assets have separate identifiable components that have distinct useful lives and/ or residual values, a
separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or re-valued amounts, net
of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the time the asset is held
ready for use.
The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each Balance
Sheet date.
Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year, unless otherwise stated:
• Buildings

30-40 years

Roads and bridges
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• Short-term

5 years

• Long-term

10 years
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
Other assets
• Computers and communication equipment

3 years

• Fixtures and fittings, office equipment

10 years

• Plant and equipment

4 years

• Motor Vehicles

5 years

Amortisation is allocated to intangible assets with finite useful lives on a systematic basis over the asset’s
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each annual reporting period.
A summary of the policies applied to VicForests intangible assets is as follows:

(j)

• Intangible Asset

• Software

• Useful life

• Finite

• Method used

• 3 years prime cost

• Internally generated / acquired

• Acquired

• Impairment test / Recoverable amount testing

• Amortisation method and indicators of
impairment reviewed annually

Intangibles
Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. Intangible assets
are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred subsequent to initial
acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits will flow to VicForests.

(k) Leased Assets
Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where VicForests has substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the leases’ inception
at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in payables. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the Comprehensive Operating
Statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. Motor vehicles acquired under finance lease are depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease, in the periods in which they are incurred, as this represents the pattern of benefits
derived from the leased assets.
Leasehold improvements
Leasehold improvements are recognised at cost and are depreciated over the unexpired period of the
lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is the shorter. At balance date, leasehold
improvements are depreciated over a period of 3-20 years.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(l)

Biological Timber and Make Good Assets
In 2004 when VicForests commenced operations, the Minister for the Environment in accordance with
Part 3 of the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004 made an allocation order for 15 years, in three five year
tranches to VicForests. The purpose of the allocation order is to transfer timber in state forests to VicForests
for the purposes of harvesting and selling that timber and undertaking associated management activities in
relation to it. The order must be reviewed every five years or at any time under certain circumstances.
In accordance with Part 5 of the Act, VicForests develops a series of Timber release plans (TRP’s) for
approval by the Secretary of DSE in respect of the areas to which an allocation order applies. TRP’s are for
periods not exceeding five years. TRP’s are prepared for each of the seven Forestry Management Areas
in which VicForests operates. As at 30 June 2011, the Biological Timber Assets comprised the estimated
standing timber available for harvest, stated at fair value, less estimated costs necessary to get the assets
to the market. Regeneration expenses are excluded. Within the current regulatory environment, no active
and liquid market for large areas of native forest exists; therefore the timber stands were valued using a
discounted cash flow method based on expected cash flows adjusted for known variances to derive a net
present value. The calculation included:
• A contingency reduction in the volume of growing timber to take into account the uncertainty in the
estimates within the TRP’s. This uncertainty reflects the inherent variability in native forests in terms
of both standing volume and sawlog quality. It also reflects the fact that under the provisions of the
Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004, VicForests is restricted in the annual volume that it can harvest.
• A discount rate of 9.47% (2010: 11%) to reflect the specific risk profile of the organisation. This rate
is based on a weighted average cost of capital calculation (WACC) which indicates that a 9.47% pa
discount rate (real, pre tax) appropriately reflects the expected returns on equity and debt and the capital
structure of VicForests.
VicForests is regenerating coupes at the conclusion of harvesting. In order to recognise this obligation,
at harvest’s completion VicForests set aside a provision for the expected costs of regeneration. As the
regeneration process results in the creation of a forestry asset which ultimately will be transferred back to
DSE once the regenerated coupes have met all stringent regeneration conditions as established by DSE,
VicForests capitalised all costs for regeneration as Make Good Assets. The actual regeneration costs have
been captured on an individual coupe basis and have been capitalised as part of the Standing Timber assets
(Note 8 (b)). At year-end VicForests assesses whether the existing provision for coupes harvested is adequate
with any movement being posted to the Make Good Assets.

(m) Taxation
VicForests is subject to the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER), which is administered by the Australian
Taxation Office (ATO). The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income, based on the national income tax rate of 30%. This is adjusted by changes
in deferred tax assets and liabilities, attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted
or substantially enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible
and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. No deferred tax asset
or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction that, at
the time of the transaction, did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Current and
deferred tax is recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(n) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
at call with financial institutions and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
(o) Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value of the consideration received or receivable and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provisions for doubtful debts. Amounts disclosed as revenue
are net of returns and taxes paid. Trading terms are 30 days from date of invoice rendered for both
trade and other receivables. Special trading terms have been granted to selected customers in line with
VicForests’ Customer Credit Policy during the course of the salvage harvesting following the 2009 bush
fires. Interest is levied on overdue accounts under the Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts, which are known to be
uncollectible, are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is established when there is objective evidence
that VicForests will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement.
(p) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the ATO. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense.
Trade receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Balance Sheet.
Cash flows arising from operating activities are disclosed in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis – i.e.
inclusive of GST. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is
recoverable or payable to the ATO is classified as operating cash flows.
(q) Inventories
Inventories comprise harvested logs stored for future sales and seeds which are being used for the
regeneration of harvested coupes. All inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
There are two main items of inventory as outlined below:
(i) Harvested logs
Log stocks in transit yards at 30 June 2011 represent timber harvested for sale. There are two components
of the cost of logs in transit yards:
• The net market value of the biological timber asset prior to it being harvested. This is the deemed cost of
the harvested logs.
• The costs of extraction. These are the operating costs for the relevant VicForests region, incurred in the
harvesting, haulage and management of the process in getting the logs to the transit yard.
Where applicable, the net realisable value is based on the sales price for the particular destination for the
product, less the remaining haulage expense.

Customer Focussed – We are responsible in our commercial dealings

35

Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(ii) Seed
VicForests uses seed to regenerate coupes subsequent to harvest and does not as a practice sell seeds to third
parties. Furthermore, there is a limited market for Victorian native forest seed within Victoria thus not allowing
the establishment of the net realisable value. Therefore all seed inventory are valued at cost only which are
assigned to seed stock quantities on hand at balance date on a weighted average cost (WAC) basis. The cost
calculation is based on direct labour and materials used in the seed collection and extraction processes.
(r) Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to VicForests prior to the end of the
financial year, which are unpaid at financial year end. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid
within 60 days of recognition.
(s) Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting
date are recognised in employee benefits liabilities in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting
date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled, at their nominal
values. Employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the entity, in respect of services rendered
by the employees up to the reporting date. Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, provisions
made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a current liability, unless there is an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case it
would be classified as a non-current liability.
Long service leave (LSL)
Current Liability – unconditional LSL (representing 7 or more years of continuous service) is disclosed as
a current liability even where VicForests does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it
does not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take
leave within 12 months.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
• Present value – component that VicForests does not expect to settle within 12 months; and
• Nominal value – component that VicForests expects to settle within 12 months.
Non-Current Liability – conditional LSL (representing less than 7 years of continuous service) is
disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. Conditional LSL is required
to be measured at present value.
In calculating present value, consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields
at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Superannuation
The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of superannuation represents
the contributions made by VicForests to the superannuation plans in respect of the current services of staff.
Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
Employee benefit on-costs
Employee benefit on-costs, including payroll tax and workers’ compensation are recognised and included
in employee benefit liabilities and costs when the employee benefits to which they relate are recognised
as liabilities.
Performance payments
Performance payments for VicForests executive officers and staff are based on a percentage of the annual
salary package provided under their contract(s) of employment. A liability is recognised and is measured as
the aggregate of the amounts accrued under the terms of the contracts to balance date.
(t) Dividend Policy
VicForests is required to pay a dividend in accordance with a determination of the Treasurer of Victoria under
the State Owned Enterprises Act, 1992. An obligation to pay a dividend only arises after consultation between
the VicForests Board and the Treasurer of Victoria and a formal determination is made by the Treasurer.
(u) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net transaction costs) and
the redemption amount is recognised in the net result over the period of the borrowings, using the effective
interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless VicForests has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
(v) Provisions
Regeneration of harvested coupes
Under the provisions of the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004, VicForests undertakes the regeneration of
harvested areas before divesting the coupes back to the Secretary of DSE. A provision is being maintained
representing the residual value of the costs of regenerating areas harvested for which regeneration works
had not yet been completed at the reporting date due to seasonal factors. The provision is based on the
current area of land to be regenerated and the per hectare cost of regeneration based on the expected
method to be employed.
Legal
VicForests has recognised provisions for legal expenses where it has a present legal obligation as a result of
ongoing litigation and the amounts can be measured reliably.
(w) Contributions by Owners
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also been
designated as contributions by owners.
(x) Reserves
VicForests’ building assets are valued at fair value with any changes to the values of the assets recognised in
the property revaluation reserve. The reserves are adjusted by the deferred tax component.
(y) Commitments
Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and inclusive of the goods and services tax (GST) payable.
(z) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by
way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are
presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
(aa) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory
for the 30 June 2011 reporting period. VicForests has not adopted and does not intend to adopt these
standards early.
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Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods beginning
on or after

Impact on VicForests’
financial statements

Revised AASB
124 Related Party
Disclosures and
AASB 2009-12
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting Standards

In December 2009 the AASB
issued a revised AASB 124 Related
Party Disclosures. It is effective
for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2011 and
must be applied retrospectively.
The amendment removes the
requirement for government-related
entities to disclose details of all
transactions with the government
and other government-related
entities and clarifies and simplifies
the definition of a related party.

1 January 2011

VicForests will
apply the amended
standard from 1 July
2011. When the
amendments are
applied, VicForests
will not be required
to maintain a Related
Party disclosure.

AASB 1053
Application of
Tiers of Australian
Accounting Standards
and AASB 20102 Amendments
to Australian
Accounting Standards
arising from
Reduced Disclosure
Requirements

On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially
introduced a revised differential
reporting framework in Australia.
Under this framework, a two-tier
differential reporting regime applies
to all entities that prepare general
purpose financial statements.

1 July 2013

The impact of this
standard will depend
on instructions
provided by DTF on
its applicability to
the entity. VicForests
will assess its impact
once DTF has
provided guidance
on this standard.

AASB 2010-4 Further
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards arising
from the Annual
Improvements Project

In June 2010, the AASB made
a number of amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
as a result of the IASB’s annual
improvements project.

1 January 2011

These amendments
are not expected to
have any significant
impact on VicForests’
disclosures.
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)
Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable for
annual reporting
periods beginning
on or after

Impact on VicForests’
financial statements

AASB 2010-8
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards – Deferred
Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets
[AASB 112]

In December 2010, the AASB
amended AASB 112 Income Taxes
to provide a practical approach for
measuring deferred tax liabilities
and deferred tax assets when
investment property is measured
using the fair value model. AASB
112 requires the measurement
of deferred tax assets or liabilities
to reflect the tax consequences
that would follow from the way
management expects to recover
or settle the carrying of the
relevant assets or liabilities, that is
through use or through sale. The
amendment introduces a rebuttable
presumption that investment
property which is measured at fair
value is recovered entirely by sale.

1 January 2012

These amendments
are not expected to
have any significant
impact on VicForests’
disclosures.
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Note 2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
VicForests’ activities expose it to a limited variety of financial risks and its overall financial risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the financial performance of VicForests. VicForests does not use derivative financial instruments such as
foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps but uses different methods to measure different types of risk
to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate risks and foreign
exchange risks where applicable and aging analysis for credit risk.
Financial risk management is carried out by the Finance Department under policies including a Treasury
Management Policy approved by the VicForests Board of Directors.
The main risks VicForests is exposed to are as follows:
(a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the fair value or future cash flows of financial
instruments. Market risk comprises foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. VicForests’
exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk, there is no material exposure to foreign
exchange risk and no exposure to other price risks.
Objectives, policies and processes used to minimise these risks are disclosed in the paragraphs below:
(i) Interest rate risk
VicForests currently requires short-term funding in order to bridge the gap between the payments to harvest
and haulage contractors (largely 14 days after month end) and the receipt of customer payments (30 days
after invoice rendered date). This loan facility is sourced from TCV and the interest rate risk exposure is not
material. Should long-term finance be required, Management will consider a fixed rate facility.
Finance leases have been entered into on fixed rates in order to eliminate any interest rate risk.
(ii) Foreign exchange risk
VicForests has no material exposure to any Foreign exchange risk as all Timber Sales Agreements are
executed in Victoria and in Australian Dollars. Purchases from foreign vendors are on an immaterial scale
and are in principle effected on an Australian Dollar basis only. Isolated foreign currency transactions are
effected on spot rates.
(iii) Other Price risk
VicForests has no exposure to Other Price Risk.
Summarised sensitivity analysis
The following table summarises the sensitivity of VicForests’ financial assets and financial liabilities to interest
rate risk. It illustrates the impact on the net result and the net assets (equity) of VicForests. A 1% increase
(and decrease) has been used to show sensitivities for interest rates for both the year ended 30 June 2011
and also the comparative year ended 30 June 2010.
Interest rate risk
-1%

+1%

Result $’000

Equity $’000

Result $’000

Equity $’000

3

0

0

0

0

122

0

0

0

0

25,071

251

251

(251)

(251)

Lease liability short term

84

1

1

(1)

(1)

Lease liability long term

0

0

0

0

0

252

252

(252)

(252)

30 June 2011
Cash on hand
Cash in bank
TCV loan

Total increase/(decrease)
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Note 2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont.)
Interest rate risk

30 June 2010

Carrying
Amount
$’000

Result $’000

Equity $’000

Result $’000

Equity $’000

Cash on hand

3

0

0

0

0

Bank overdraft

69

1

1

(1)

(1)

19,074

191

191

(191)

(191)

Lease liability short term

66

1

1

(1)

(1)

Lease liability long term

84

1

1

(1)

(1)

194

194

(194)

(194)

TCV loan

Total increase/(decrease)

-1%

+1%

While the above sensitivity analysis was based on the year-end balances, it needs to be acknowledged that
the TCV loan is fluctuating within any month and within its facility limit and that the actual risk exposure
could vary as well and might not exist for a whole month or year. The above analysis therefore is considered
to be realistic and confirms that the market risk exposure is minor.
(b) Credit Risk
Credit Risk is the risk of financial loss to VicForests as a result of a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument failing to meet its contractual obligations. VicForests’ maximum exposure to credit risk at balance
date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated
in the Balance Sheet. Authorised counterparties for Cash at bank and deposits must be Australian Banks or
domestic Government Agencies.
Credit risk arising from trade receivables is managed on an individual customer basis through a stringent
credit assessment process before any auction. Further assessments with mercantile agencies are instigated
when monthly reviews of the ageing analysis of receivables require additional intervention. Customers
exceeding their capacity and credit limits are required to support these excesses with appropriate securities.
Other receivables consist of receivables from employees and third parties and are considered fully recoverable.
(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that VicForests will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
VicForests under normal circumstances is not exposed to any substantial liquidity risks and is able to pay
its debts as and when they fall due. Short-term liquidity requirements during each month, due to the
gap between the payments of harvesting and haulage contractors and the payments receivable from
customers, are covered by a loan facility, approved by the Treasurer of Victoria and extended to VicForests
by TCV. Monthly and rolling 12-monthly cash forecasts ensure that liquidity requirements are met. During
2011 a major client’s cash flow problems resulting in payment delays of amounts up to $7,000,000 forced
VicForests to establish an emergency facility of $3,000,000 with TCV.
The liquidity analysis below details VicForests’ remaining contractual maturities for its financial
liabilities. The analysis has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which VicForests can be required to pay. The analysis includes both
interest and principal cash flows.
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Note 2 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont.)
< 1 mth

1-3 mths 3 mths – 1 year

1-2 yrs

2-5 yrs

5-10 yrs

TOTAL

2011

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Payables

7,864

0

0

0

0

0

7,864

TCV Loan

0

0

25,071

0

0

0

25,071

Lease Liabilities

2

7

75

0

0

0

84

7,866

7

25,146

0

0

0

33,019

1-3 mths 3 mths – 1 year

1-2 yrs

2-5 yrs

5-10 yrs

TOTAL

< 1 mth
2010

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

10,929

0

0

0

0

0

10,929

TCV Loan

0

0

19,074

0

0

0

19,074

Lease Liabilities

3

24

39

84

0

0

150

10,932

24

19,113

84

0

0

30,153

Payables

Note 3 Comprehensive Operating Statement-disclosures
(a) Revenue
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Sawlogs

55,032

55,162

Pulpwood logs / other

76,210

76,230

172

196

131,414

131,588

1,439

1,474

5,885

10,860

89

570

7,413

12,904

Interest on cash and cash equivalents

26

17

Interest on overdue trade receivables

421

288

Total interest

447

305

Sales of forest products

Licence fees
Total sales of forest products

Other revenue
Services provided to other Government Entities
Grant Bushfire Recovery
Other
Total other

1(d)

Interest
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Note 3 Comprehensive Operating Statement-disclosures (cont.)
(b) Operating Expenses
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Harvesting expenses

49,454

50,413

Haulage expenses

50,178

53,969

0

530

2,353

3,185

101,985

108,097

10,526

10,175

978

841

Employee benefits (Annual Leave and Long Service Leave)

1,311

1,072

Other employee expenses

1,287

1,261

14,102

13,349

Road access fee

2,667

1,265

Road maintenance

4,385

4,016

Total roading and regeneration expenses

7,052

5,281

468

66

Provisions for disputed costs

1,683

2,713

Contractors and Consultants

1,221

1,278

85

83

1,372

1,417

113

112

1,808

1,757

532

1,241

Professional fees

1,518

2,272

Total other expenses

8,800

10,939

Property, Plant and Equipment

960

1,069

Total depreciation

960

1,069

3,437

3,543

46

277

3,483

3,820

(i) Production expenses

Third party purchases
Other production expenses
Total production expenses
(ii) Employee expenses
Salaries and wages
Superannuation

Total employee expenses
(iii) Roading and regeneration expenses

(iv) Other expenses
Bad and doubtful debts

External audit – Victorian Auditor General’s Office
Facilities expenses
Internal audit
Motor vehicle expenses
Other expenses

(v) Depreciation

(vi) Amortisation
Biological timber assets
Software
Total amortisation
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Note 3 Comprehensive Operating Statement-disclosures (cont.)
(c) Other economic flows included in net result
Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

1(g)

5

(3)

0

(9)

8 (c)

0

188

9

0

4,139

Increase / (Decrease) in average stumpage / cash flow

8 (c)

788

(114)

Increase / (Decrease) due to change in discount rate

8 (c)

180

0

Other Biological timber asset valuation adjustments

8 (c)

430

0

(194)

(463)

(5)

(411)

1,204

3,327

Other economic flows
Net gain / (loss) on disposal of assets
Net gain / (loss) arising from the revaluation of long
service leave liability
Revaluation of coupes returned to DSE
Revaluation of coupes harvested prior to 1 July 2008
Change in net market value of Biological timber assets
due to:

Write-down of timber assets in log storage facility
Write-down of seed stock
Other economic flow for the year

Note 4 Income tax
The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount calculated on the net result.
The differences are reconciled as follows:
(a) Components of tax expense
Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Current tax payable

10(a)

1,197

507

Adjustments to current tax for prior periods

10(a)

0

(203)

(254)

1,208

943

1,512

Deferred tax relating to temporary differences
Income tax expense/ (credit)
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Note 4 Income tax (cont.)
Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:

Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

10(b)

(1,336)

1,199

(30)

0

(44)

9

1,117

0

39

0

(254)

1,208

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2,062

1,777

619

533

3

1

Adjustments for prior periods

(40)

(20)

Income tax expense / (credit) on operating result

582

514

361

998

943

1,512

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Other economic flows for the year

1,204

3,327

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%)

(361)

(998)

843

2,329

(Increase)/ Decrease in deferred tax assets
Equity adjustment
(Decrease)/ Increase in deferred tax liabilities

10(c)

Deferred revenue recognised
Over/Under provision previous year

(b) Reconciliation of income tax to prima facie tax payable

Note(s)

Net operating result before income tax expense
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in
calculating taxable income:
Expenditure not allowed for income tax purposes

Income tax expense / ( credit) relating to other economic
flows for the year

4(c)

Income tax expense/ (credit)
(c) Income tax expense (credit) relating to other economic flows for the year

Other economic flows, net of tax
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Note 5 Cash and cash equivalents
Note(s)
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Total cash and cash equivalent

20

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

3

3

122

0

125

3

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow
Statement, as follows:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance as above

125

3

Balance as per Cash Flow Statement

125

3

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

37,285

31,428

Provision for doubtful debts

(193)

(132)

Provision for disputed costs

(4,395)

(2,713)

Net trade receivables

32,697

28,583

Other receivables

349

1,363

Goods and services tax recoverable

198

137

33,244

30,083

Note(s)

Note 6 Receivables
Note(s)
Current
Trade receivables

Total current receivables

The Trade receivables are shown net after receivables from DSE amounting to $11,594,847 (in 2010:
$6,181,788) was off-set with the equivalent amount of a payable to DSE, as these amounts were only
transacted in order to reflect the legal status of the Legislated Agreement between Paper Australia and the
State of Victoria. VicForests as an agent for this agreement will only receive and pay these amounts once the
transaction has been settled with Paper Australia.
At 30 June 2011, a provision for disputed costs in connection with the Legislated Agreement amounting to
$4,395,442 (2010: $ 2,712,641) was established following an assessment of the possibility that VicForests
would not be able to collect all amounts due.

46

Safe – We aim for zero harm in all that we do

VICFORESTS ANNUAL REPORT 2010-11

Note 6 Receivables (cont.)
(a) Provision for doubtful debts
During 2010-11 VicForests provided an additional $468,394 (2010: $72,438) for doubtful debts in
accordance with the Customer Credit Policy and due to objective evidence that VicForests will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. As at 30 June 2011 VicForests wrote
off trade receivables amounting to $407,621 against the Provision for doubtful debts as no further recovery
is being envisaged.
As at 30 June 2011, current receivables of VicForests with a nominal value of $193,015 (2010: $404,550)
were doubtful and/or more than 150 days overdue. The amount of the provision therefore was $193,015
(2010: $132,242). The individually doubtful receivables relate to customers, which are in unexpectedly
difficult economic situations and/or where it was assessed that a large portion of the receivables is not
expected to be recovered.
The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Current to 3 months
3 months to 1 year
Over 1 year

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

0

226

193

10

0

169

193

405

As of 30 June 2011, trade receivables of $16,442,467 (2010: $6,942,424) were past due but not doubtful.
These relate to a number of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The increase from the
previous year represents the increase in the amount of disputed expenses in connection with the Legislated
Agreement and the payment delay by a major sawlog customer amounting to $7,322,139. Since balance
sheet date this unpaid amount has been repaid by substantially.
The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Past due to 3 months

9,307

5,751

3 months to 1 year

3,584

1,085

Over 1 year

3,551

106

16,442

6,942

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Opening Balance 1 July

132

66

Provision for doubtful debts recognised during the year

468

72

(407)

0

0

(6)

193

132

Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows:

Utilisation of provision
Unused amount reversed / written back
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Note 6 Receivables (cont.)
The creation and release of the provision for doubtful debts has been included in ‘other expenses’ in the
Comprehensive Operating Statement. Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off
when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
The other amounts within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on credit
history, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.
(b) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their
fair value. The management of the credit risk is determined following the below ageing of the receivables:
Not past
Past due and not impaired
due and not
TOTAL
impaired < 1 mth 1-3 mths 3 mths–1 yr > 1 year
2011

Impaired
/
TOTAL doubtful

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

37,285

20,650

4,419

4,888

3,584

3,551 16,442

193

- of which under
payment plan

7,042

3,245

781

1,130

995

891

3,797

0

- of which secured
by Bank Guarantee/
Security payment

1,119

280

169

318

352

0

839

0

Other Receivables

349

349

0

0

0

0

0

0

Trade Receivables

The increase in past due but not impaired trade receivables and in payment plans reflects the difficulties the
timber industry is currently experiencing. A major customer incurred substantial debts amounting to $7.3
million and up to 60 days past due, which has resulted in VicForests suspending supply. The debt is currently
being repaid in a structured manner. Another major sawlog customer has decided to exit the saw milling
business and their long outstanding debt is currently being repaid in an orderly and structured manner.
The trade receivables past due by more than a year are appropriately provisioned and represent expenses still in
dispute. Both VicForests and the customer are cooperatively working on finalising this long outstanding issue.

Not past
Past due and not impaired
due and not
TOTAL
impaired < 1 mth 1-3 mths 3 mths–1 yr > 1 year
2010

Impaired
/
TOTAL doubtful

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

31,428

24,081

3,459

2,292

1,191

0

6,942

405

3,586

964

455

975

1,192

0

2,622

0

- of which secured
by Bank Guarantee/
Security payment

693

51

27

386

229

0

642

0

Other Receivables

1,363

1,363

0

0

0

0

0

0

Trade Receivables
- of which under
payment plan

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the higher of the carrying value and fair value
of each class of receivables mentioned above. VicForests does hold collateral as security. Refer to note 2 for
more information of the risk management policy for VicForests.
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Note 7 Inventories
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Seed – at cost

8,089

7,897

Logs in log storage facilities – at the lower of cost or net realisable value

7,938

8,809

16,027

16,706

Note(s)

2011
’000

2010
’000

1(l)

1,612

1,895

Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Current – TRP’s available for harvesting within 12 months

1(l)

3,387

3,514

Non-current – TRP’s

1(l)

10,859

5,818

Non-Current – regenerated Coupes

1(l)

13,168

6,889

Sub-Total Non-Current

24,027

12,707

Valuation 30 June

27,414

16,221

Current

Total inventories

Note 8 Biological timber assets
(a) Volume of standing timber

Estimated volume of standing timber available for
harvest within 12 months (cubic metres)
(b) Net market value of standing timber

The current and non-current TRP’s represent 4 years timber supply which has been evaluated on the basis of
the discounted cash flow methodology taking the current budget and corporate plan into account.
The increase in the regenerated coupes reflects the success VicForests has achieved in reducing the backlog
in regeneration. In October 2010 VicForests submitted 3,824.55 ha of regenerated coupes for finalisation
to the DSE, however the finalisation process has not been completed yet and these coupes have therefore
remained in VicForests’ biological timber assets.
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Note 8 Biological timber assets (cont.)
(c) Reconciliation of net market value of standing timber
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

16,221

10,894

6,953

2,822

0

188

6,279

6,162

0

(188)

(3,437)

(3,543)

Increase / (Decrease) in average stumpage / cash flow

788

(114)

Increase / (Decrease) due to change in discount rate

180

0

Revaluation (fair value adjustment)

430

0

27,414

16,221

Note(s)
Carrying amount at 1 July
Additions – TRP’s
Revaluation of coupes returned to DSE
Additions – regenerated coupes
Return of regenerated coupes to DSE
Decrement due to harvesting – amortisation

Closing balance 30 June

1(l)

(d) Discount rates
The following discount rate has been applied to the estimated cash flow of the estimated standing timber
as per 30 June 2011 to derive a net present value:

Discount rate

2011

2010

9.47%

11.00%

The discount rate, which is real and pre-tax, reflects VicForests’ average costs of funds and the current risk
profile of the organisation.

Note 9 Other Assets
Current
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Regeneration make-good asset

4,146

2,499

Total current

4,146

2,499

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Regeneration make-good asset

352

377

Total non-current

352

377

Non-Current
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Note 9 Other Assets (cont.)
Movements in each class of other assets during the financial year are set out below:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2,499

1,250

0

1,200

(4,013)

(2,450)

Provision recognised during year

5,660

2,499

Closing balance 30 June

4,146

2,499

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

377

261

0

2,939

(350)

(3,200)

Provision recognised during year

325

377

Closing balance 30 June

352

377

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Opening balance 1 July

0

0

Payments made

0

0

Current
Opening balance 1 July
Revaluation of coupes harvested prior to 1 July 2008
Payments or other sacrifices of economic benefits

Non-Current
Opening balance 1 July
Revaluation of coupes harvested prior to 1 July 2008
Payments or other sacrifices of economic benefits

Note 10 Tax Assets and tax liabilities
(a) Current tax asset / (liability)
Current tax asset / (liability) is derived as follows:
Note(s)

Current tax payable

4(a)

(1,197)

507

Adjustment for prior period in current tax

4(a)

0

(203)

0

(304)

(1,197)

0

Carry forward loss utilised / Recognition of timing differences
Closing balance 30 June
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Note 10 Tax Assets and tax liabilities (cont.)
The closing balance represents:
Income tax instalments (payable)

(1,197)

0

Closing balance 30 June

(1,197)

0

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2

(22)

61

67

4,395

(4,041)

(3,725)

(1,690)

Other movements

(133)

0

Balance

(600)

5,686

Multiply by 30% tax rate

(180)

1,706

Balance

(180)

1,706

Opening balance 1 July

2,327

3,766

(Debited)/ Credited to the Comprehensive
Operating Statement

1,336

(1,199)

(1,117)

(507)

(39)

267

2,507

2,327

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

(246)

29

99

0

(147)

29

(44)

9

(b) Deferred tax assets
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Note(s)
Movement in amounts recognised in Comprehensive
Operating Statement
Accrued expenses
Doubtful debts
Provisions
Tax losses carried forward

Movements

Utilisation of tax losses
Adjustment for prior period in accumulated surplus
Closing balance 30 June
(c) Deferred tax liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Note(s)
Amounts recognised in Comprehensive Operating
Statement
Depreciation
Revaluation
Balance
Multiply by 30% tax rate
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Note 10 Tax Assets and tax liabilities (cont.)
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

141

70

(74)

9

0

62

Revaluation through Equity

30

0

Closing balance 30 June

97

141

Note(s)
Movements
Opening balance 1 July
(Debited)/ credited to other economic flows

4(a)

Adjustment for prior period in accumulated surplus

(d) Reconciliation to Balance Sheet
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other for disclosure in the Balance Sheet.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

10(b)

2,507

2,327

10 ( c)

(97)

(141)

2,410

2,186

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Note 11 Property, plant and equipment
(a) Classes of property, plant and equipment

Buildings
Buildings at fair value as at 30 June 2010

597

Buildings at fair value as at 30 June 2011

697

Less: accumulated depreciation

(59)

(40)

Written down value

638

557

5,161

4,644

(2,229)

(1,765)

2,932

2,879

Roads and bridges
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Written down value
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment (cont.)
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

At fair value

1,249

1,233

Less: accumulated depreciation

(941)

(790)

308

443

At fair value

1,452

1,451

Less: accumulated depreciation

(730)

(447)

722

1,004

At fair value

134

215

Less: accumulated depreciation

(77)

(96)

57

119

215

194

4,872

5,196

Plant and equipment

Written down value
Leasehold Improvements

Written down value
Vehicles

Written down value
Assets under construction at cost
Total Property, Plant and Equipment

Buildings comprise residences in remote areas rented to employees. They were re-valued by CJA Lee
Property, Valuers and Consultants, 66 Church Street, Traralgon, VIC 3844 as per 30 June 2011 at Fair Value
in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.
Roads and bridges represent in-forest infrastructure facilitating the harvesting and haulage of timber
product from remote coupes. As there is no reliable market-based fair value for these assets, VicForests uses
depreciated cost as reasonable approximation of fair value.
Plant and equipment includes computers and communications equipment, furniture and office equipment.
Leasehold Improvements include office alterations and fittings.
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment (cont.)
(b) Movements during the reporting period
2010 – 2011

Opening
WDV

Additions Disposals Revaluation Transfers Impairment Depreciation

Closing
WDV

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

557

0

0

99

0

0

(18)

638

2,879

0

0

0

518

0

(465)

2,932

443

26

0

0

0

0

(161)

308

1,004

2

0

0

0

0

(284)

722

Vehicles at
fair value

119

0

(30)

0

0

0

(32)

57

Assets under
construction
at cost

194

539

0

0

(518)

0

0

215

5,196

567

(30)

99

0

0

(960)

4,872

Additions Disposals Revaluation Transfers Impairment Depreciation

Closing
WDV

Buildings at
fair value
Roads and
bridges at
fair value
Plant and
equipment at
fair value
Leasehold
Improvements
at fair value

Total

2009 – 2010

Buildings at
fair value
Roads and
bridges at
fair value
Plant and
equipment at
fair value
Leasehold
Improvements
at fair value
Vehicles at
fair value
Assets under
construction
at cost
Total

Opening
WDV

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

576

0

0

0

0

0

(19)

557

3,332

50

0

0

0

0

(503)

2,879

450

123

(10)

0

186

0

(306)

443

1,302

81

0

0

(186)

0

(193)

1,004

189

0

(22)

0

0

0

(48)

119

0

194

0

0

0

0

194

5,849

448

(32)

0

0

(1,069)

5,196
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Note 12 Intangible assets
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

1,047

1,037

(1,032)

(986)

15

51

Opening WDV 1 July

51

273

Additions

10

55

(46)

(277)

15

51

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

6,586

9,881

Accrued expenses

871

618

Other payables

407

430

7,864

10,929

(a) Software
Software at cost
Less: accumulated amortisation
Written down value
(b) Movements during the reporting period

Amortisation
Closing WDV 30 June

Note 13 Payables

Current payables
Trade payables

Total current payables
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Note 14 Borrowings
(a) Overdraft, Loan facilities and Finance leases
During 2010-11 VicForests maintained a loan facility with TCV as approved by the Treasurer of Victoria to
meet its operational cash flow requirements. VicForests also maintained three finance leases which originally
were all for three year terms but expire all within 12 months.
Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

0

69

25,071

19,074

84

66

25,155

19,209

0

84

Current
Unsecured
Bank overdraft
TCV loan
Lease liabilities
Total current unsecured interest bearing liabilities

20

Non current
Unsecured
Lease liabilities
Total non current unsecured interest bearing liabilities

20

0

84

Total unsecured interest bearing liabilities

20

25,155

19,293

Note(s)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Total TCV Facility

28,000

22,500

Used at 30 June

25,071

19,074

2,929

3,426

Credit standby arrangements

Unused at 30 June
(b) Interest rate risk exposure
The interest rates risk exposure is addressed in Note 20.
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Note 15 Employee benefits
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

901

749

1,179

1,194

297

295

2,377

2,238

559

420

559

420

2,936

2,658

Current
Annual leave (nominal value)
Long service leave
Unconditional - Expected to be settled within 12 months (nominal value)
- Expected to be settled after 12 months (present value)

Non-current
Conditional - Long service leave

Total employee benefits

Employee numbers at end of the financial year are 128 full time equivalents. (30 June 2010: 128)
The following assumptions have been used to calculate the provision for long service leave as at 30 June 2011.
• Wage inflation rate: 4.45%
• Discount rates for years 1 – 12 range from 4.45% to 5.20%.

Note 16 Provisions
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Provision for regeneration of coupes

4,146

2,499

Provision for employee entitlements

150

237

0

525

632

300

4,928

3,561

Current

Other Provisions
Provision for legal expenses
Total Current
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Note 16 Provisions (cont.)
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year are set out below:
2011
$’000
Provision for
Provision
regeneration for employee
of coupes entitlements

Other
Provisions/
redundancy

Provision
for legal
expenses

Total Current

Current
Opening balance 1 July

2,499

237

525

300

3,561

Additional provisions
recognised

5,652

150

0

851

6,653

Payments or other sacrifices of
economic benefits

(2,782)

(229)

(525)

(439)

(3,975)

Reduction from
re-measurement or
settlement without cost

(1,223)

(8)

0

(80)

(1,311)

4,146

150

0

632

4,928

Other
Provisions/
redundancy

Provision
for legal
expenses

Total Current

Closing balance 30 June

2010
$’000
Provision for
Provision
regeneration for employee
of coupes entitlements

Current
Opening balance 1 July

2,450

46

161

205

2,862

Additional provisions
recognised

2,499

237

525

299

3,560

0

(46)

(134)

(204)

(1,634)

(2,450)

0

(27)

0

(1,227)

2,499

237

525

300

3,561

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Provision for regeneration of coupes

352

377

Total Non-Current

352

377

Payments or other sacrifices of
economic benefits
Reduction from
re-measurement or
settlement without cost
Closing balance 30 June

Non-Current
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Note 16 Provisions (cont.)
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Opening balance 1 July

377

3,200

Provision recognised during year

325

377

0

(261)

(350)

(2,939)

352

377

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Refundable auction deposits

20

8

Total Non-Current

20

8

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

30,898

28,264

6,953

2,634

37,851

30,898

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

139

139

69

0

208

139

Payments or other sacrifices of economic benefits
Reduction from re-measurement or settlement without cost
Closing balance 30 June

Note 17 Other Liabilities

Non-Current

Note 18 Contributions by Owners

Opening balance 1 July
Net transfer of Biological timber assets
Closing balance 30 June

Note 19 Reserves
Note(s)
Property revaluation reserve:
Opening balance 1 July
Revaluation of buildings – net of tax
Closing balance 30 June
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Note 20 Financial Instruments
(a) Interest rate risk exposures
The following table details exposure to interest rate risks at 30 June 2011:
Fixed interest rate maturity
Weighted
average effective
interest rate %

Variable Less than 1
interest rate
year
$’000
$’000

1 to 5 Non interest
years
bearing
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets
Cash on hand

0%

0

0

0

3

3

Cash in Bank

4.57%

122

0

0

0

122

Trade receivables

10.5%

7,042

0

0

30,243

37,285

7,164

0

0

30,246

37,410

-

0

0

0

7,864

7,864

4.835%

25,071

0

0

0

25,071

10.817%

0

84

0

0

84

25,071

84

0

7,864

33,019

Total Financial liabilities
Current payables
Interest bearing
liabilities (TCV loan)
Finance lease
liabilities
Total

The following table details exposure to interest rate risks at 30 June 2010:
Fixed interest rate maturity
Weighted
average effective
interest rate %

Variable Less than 1
interest rate
year
$’000
$’000

1 to 5 Non interest
years
bearing
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial assets
Cash on hand

0%

0

0

0

3

3

10.252%

4,093

0

0

27,335

31,428

4,093

0

0

27,338

31,431

-

0

0

0

10,929

10,929

Bank overdraft

7.260%

69

0

0

0

69

Interest bearing
liabilities (TCV loan)

4.105%

19,074

0

0

0

19,074

10.320%

0

66

84

0

150

19,143

66

84

10,929

30,222

Trade receivables
Total Financial liabilities
Current payables

Finance lease
liabilities
Total
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Note 20 Financial Instruments (cont.)
(b) Fair Value
There is no material difference between the carrying amounts and fair value of the financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Note 21 Commitments
(a) Lease commitments
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

1,334

1,214

819

389

2,153

1,603

90

77

0

90

Total minimum lease payments

90

167

Less: future finance charges

(6)

(17)

Total

84

150

84

66

0

84

84

150

84

66

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

0

84

Later than 5 years

0

0

84

150

Operating lease commitments
The value of operating leases entered into at 30 June but not recognised as
liabilities are expected to be payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year but within 5 years
Total
Finance lease commitments
VicForests has motor vehicle finance leases. The commitments are as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year but within 5 years

Represented by
Current liability
Non-current liability

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:
Within 1 year

Total minimum lease payments
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Note 21 Commitments (cont.)
(b) Other operating commitments
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Within 1 year

71,302

72,800

Later than 1 year but within 5 years

83,469

85,058

17

0

154,788

157,858

As at 30 June, VicForests had the following other operating
commitments expected to be paid as follows:

Later than 5 years
Total
(c) Cost of road access fee

VicForests is party to an agreement with DSE to determine, manage and fund maintenance costs associated
with timber haulage on the Forest Road Network. The timber haulage tolls are established on the basis of
the costs of maintaining the Road Network and the volume and distance hauled over the network. The
agreement also includes the sharing of funding of a Bridges and Structures fund. This agreement and the
associated charges are being reviewed and confirmed on an annual basis.

Note 22 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 30 June 2011.

Note 23 Superannuation
VicForests makes employer superannuation contributions to a series of funds in respect of employees. These
funds have two categories of membership, each of which is funded differently.
The Emergency Services Superannuation Schemes and the State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme (SERBS)
are multi–employer sponsored defined benefit plans. As these funds assets and liabilities are pooled and are not
allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers.
As provided under paragraph 32(b) of AASB119, VicForests does not use defined benefit accounting for these
contributions.
VicForests makes employer contributions to the defined benefit funds at rates determined by each funds Trustee
on the advice of each funds Actuary. The other funds receive both employer and employee contributions on
a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings
as required under Superannuation Guarantee Legislation. No further liability accrues to the employer as the
superannuation benefits accruing to the employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the funds.
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Note 23 Superannuation (cont.)
VicForests contributes in respect of its employees to the following superannuation schemes:

Scheme Name

Type of Scheme

2011

2010

Contribution Rate
$’000

Contribution Rate
$’000

Emergency Services
Superannuation – New Scheme

Defined Benefit

7.4% - 10.3%

114

7.4% - 10.3%

133

Emergency Services
Superannuation – Revised Scheme

Defined Benefit

17.6%

41

17.3%

48

State Employees Retirement
Benefits Scheme (SERBS)

Defined Benefit

13.3%

12

12.6%

10

VicSuper

Accumulated Fund

9.0%

650

9.0%

559

Other

Accumulated Fund

9.0%

161

9.0%

113

Total contributions to all funds

978

863

At 30 June 2011 there were no outstanding contributions due to the Government Superannuation Office (GSO)
(an operating division of the Emergency Services Superannuation Board which manages the Emergency Services
Superannuation Schemes and the SERBS) (as at 30 June 2010: $nil).
As at the reporting date, there were no loans to or from VicForests to any of the above funds.

Note 24 Related Party Transactions
There were no amounts paid by VicForests in connection with the retirement of responsible persons of VicForests
during the financial year.
There were no loans in existence by VicForests to responsible persons or related parties at the date of this report.
There were no other transactions between VicForests and responsible persons and their related parties during the
financial year.
Expenses incurred during the financial year resulting from transactions with other State Government related entities were:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

627

439

1

1

498

398

3,531

2,227

State Revenue Office

589

551

Treasury Corporation of Victoria

816

444

2

1

246

208

19

18

6,329

4,287

Related Entity
CenITex
Country Fire Authority
Department of Primary Industries
Department of Sustainability and Environment

VicRoads
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority
Victorian Rail Track
Total
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Note 24 Related Party Transations (cont.)
Revenue generated from services rendered to related entities:
Related Entity

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Department of Primary Industries (Bush Fire Salvage Grant)

4,399

0

Department of Sustainability and Environment

1,439

1,474

Department of Treasury and Finance (Bush Fire Salvage Grant)

1,486

10,860

Total

7,324

12,334

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Department of Primary Industries

458

0

Department of Sustainability and Environment

641

715

0

1,247

1,099

1,962

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

0

4

38

47

679

1,474

57

34

0

269

774

1,828

Receivables from related entities as per 30 June:

Related Entity

Department of Treasury and Finance
Total
Payables for related entities as per 30 June:

Related Entity
CenITex
Department of Primary Industries
Department of Sustainability and Environment
State Revenue Office
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority
Total
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Note 25 Responsible persons and executive officer disclosures
(a) Responsible persons
The names of persons who were responsible persons at anytime during the financial year were:
• The Hon. Joe Helper, Minister for Agriculture (1 July 2010 to 1 December 2010)
• The Hon. Peter Walsh, Minister for Agriculture and Food Security (2 December 2010 to 30 June 2011)
VicForests’ other responsible persons are as follows:
Position

Name and title

Chairman

Warren Hodgson

Director

Monica Gould

Director

Fiona McNabb

Director

Bob Smith

Director

Trevor Smith

Director

Susan Walpole

Accountable Officer

David Pollard, Chief Executive Officer

The number of responsible persons other than the responsible Minister and their total remuneration was
within the specified bands as follows:
Total Remuneration
Income band ($)

2011 No.

2010 No.

$10,000 - $19,999

0

2

$30,000 - $39,999

5

4

$60,000 - $69,999

1

1

$320,000 - $329,999

0

1

$330,000 - $339,999

1

0

Total numbers

7

8

Total amount

$558,125

$564,712

Remuneration paid to the Ministers is reported in the Annual Report of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
(b) Executive officers’ remuneration
The number of executive officers (excluding the Accountable Officer) and their total remuneration during
the reporting period are shown in the table below in their relevant income bands. The base remuneration
of executive officers is also shown. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long service leave
payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.
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Note 25 Responsible persons and executive officer disclosures (cont.)
Total Remuneration
2011
No.

Income band

2010
No.

Base Remuneration
2011
No.

2010
No.

Under $100,000

0

2

0

2

$110,000 - $119,999

0

0

0

1

$120,000 - $129,999

0

1

0

0

$140,000 - $149,999

0

1

1

3

$150,000 - $159,999

2

1

1

0

$160,000 - $169,999

0

1

1

0

$170,000 - $179,999

1

0

0

0

$180,000 - $189,999

1

1

1

1

$190,000 - $199,999

0

1

2

1

$210,000 - $219,999

2

0

0

0

Total numbers

6

8

6

8

Total amount

$1,091,119

$1,054,826

$1,040,675

$1,007,107

Note 26 Reconciliation of profit / (loss) for the period after related income tax to net cash flows from
operating activities
Reconciliation of net result after income tax expense to net cash provided by operating activities:
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2,323

3,592

(Profit) / loss on disposal of non-current assets

(5)

3

Provisions for doubtful debts

61

66

Provisions for disputed costs

1,682

2,713

Depreciation and amortisation

4,443

4,889

0

0

Other non-cash movements

(15)

(583)

Tax on non-cash movements

0

(300)

(Increase)/ decrease in trade receivables

(5,857)

(12,112)

(Increase)/ decrease in other receivables

953

(1,343)

(Increase) in inventories

679

(4,294)

Total comprehensive income for the year
Non-cash movements:

Write-down of timber assets in log storage facility

Movements in assets and liabilities:
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Note 26 Reconciliation of profit / (loss) for the period after related income tax to net cash flows
from operating activities (cont.)
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

(Increase) in biological assets

(7,677)

(5,327)

(Increase) in other assets

(1,622)

(1,365)

312

(363)

(235)

1,510

(3,065)

(1,328)

191

89

1,429

(2,154)

12

0

1,208

0

(5,183)

(16,307)

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

0

0

(Increase)/ decrease in prepayments
(Increase)/ decrease in deferred tax asset
Increase/ (decrease) in payables
Increase/ (decrease) in employee benefit liabilities
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions
Increase in other liabilities
Increase/ (decrease) in current tax liability
Net cash flows from operating activities
Non-cash investing and financing activities

Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of finance leases

Note 27 Dividends
In the Financial Year ended 30th June 2011 no dividend was paid (2010: $nil), however it is proposed to pay a
dividend of $1,260,000 in October 2011 after consultation with the Department of Treasury and Finance and
after taking the net comprehensive income for the Financial Year ended 30 June 2011 into account.

Note 28 Events occurring after the balance sheet date
No matters and/ or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affect
or may significantly affect the operations of VicForests, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of
VicForests in future financial years.
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Auditor-General’s report
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Auditor-General’s report (cont.)
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Appendix 1 Disclosure Index
The Annual Report of VicForests is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations. This index
facilitates identification of the Enterprise’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.
Legislation

Disclosure Required

Page

Ministerial Directions
Report of Operations

7-12

Charter and purpose
FRD 22B

Manner of establishment and the relevant Minister

66

FRD 22B

Nature and range of services provided

6

FRD 22B

Objectives, functions, powers and duties

6

Management and structure
FRD 22B

Directors of the Board

14

FRD 22B

Organisational structure

15

Financial and other information

72

FRD 8A

Budget portfolio outcomes

11

FRD 10

Disclosure Index

72

FRD 12A

Disclosure of major contracts

74

FRD 15B

Executive officer disclosure

66

FRD 22B

Five-year summary of financial results

12

FRD 22B

Statement of workforce data, and merit and equity

FRD 22B

Summary of financial results for the year

12

FRD 22B

Significant changes in financial position during the year

27

FRD 22B

Operational and budgetary objectives, and performance against objectives

FRD 22B

Major changes or factors affecting performance

FRD 22B

Employment and conduct principles

FRD 22B

Occupational health and safety

FRD 22B

Subsequent events

68

FRD 22B

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

19

FRD 22B

Application and operation of Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001

FRD 22B

Statement of National Competition Policy

19

FRD 22B

Statement of availability of other information

19

FRD 22B

Environmental performance

23

16-18

11-12
5, 7
18
16-17

20-23
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Legislation

Disclosure Required

Page

FRD 22B

Building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993

19

FRD 22B

Details of consultancies over $100 000

74

FRD 22B

Details of consultancies under $100 000

74

FRD 25

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures

23

FRD 29

Workforce Data disclosure

18

SD 4.5.5

Risk management compliance attestation

SD 4.2(g)

General information requirements

SD 4.2(j)

Sign-off requirements

4
8-13
4

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial statements required under Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994
SD 4.2(a)

Statement of Changes in Equity

27

SD 4.2(b)

Comprehensive Operating Statement

25

SD 4.2(b)

Balance Sheet

26

SD 4.2(b)

Cash Flow Statement

28

SD 4.2(b)

Notes to the financial statements

SD 4.2(c)

Compliance with applicable Australian accounting standards
and other authoritative pronouncements

29

SD 4.2(c)

Compliance with Ministerial Directions

29

SD 4.2(c)

Accountable Officer’s declaration

69

SD 4.2(d)

Rounding of amounts

29

29-68

Other disclosures in notes to the financial statements
FRD 21A

Responsible person-related disclosures

FRD 112B

Employee superannuation funds
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63-64
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Legislation

Disclosure Required

Legislation
Audit Act 1994
Building Act 1993
Financial Management Act 1994
Freedom of Information Act 1982
Multicultural Victoria Act 2004
National Competition Policy
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004
Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983
State Owned Enterprises Act 1992
Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003
Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001
Key:
FMA Financial Management Act 1994, as amended
FRD

Financial Reporting Direction issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance

SD

Standing Direction of the Minister for Treasury and Finance

Appendix 2 Consultancies
Consultant

Nature of Work

Fees 2010-11 ($)

Salvage sawlog degrade project

113,000

Auction Support

106,934

a) Consultancies in excess of $100,000
QA Pty Ltd
Tradeslot
b) Consultancies less than $100,000
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